
 

 
 

PUBLIC TRANSPORT SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

This meeting will be recorded and the sound recording subsequently made available via 
the Council’s website: charnwood.gov.uk/pages/committees 
 
Please also note that under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 
that other people may film, record, tweet or blog from this meeting.  The use of any 
images or sound recordings is not under the Council’s control. 
 
 
 

To: Councillors Campsall, Fox, Lawrence, Maynard (Chair), O'Neill and Seaton (For 
attention) 

 
All other members of the Council 

(For information) 
 

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Public Transport Scrutiny Panel to be held 
in Committee Room 2, at the Council Offices, Southfields, Loughborough on Wednesday, 
7th February 2024 at 10.00 am for the following business. 
 

 
 
Chief Executive 
 
Southfields 
Loughborough 
 
30th January 2024 
 

AGENDA 
  

1.   APOLOGIES 
 

 
 
2.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
3 - 8 

 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting 
  

3.   DISCLOSURES OF PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND OTHER 
REGISTRABLE AND NON-REGISTRABLE INTERESTS 
 

 

 For information, disclosable pecuniary interests and registrable interest relate to 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

file:///C:/Users/karenw/AppData/local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/NU3M8P7G/charnwood.gov.uk/pages/committees


 

entries that are included or should be included, on a councillor’s register of 
interests. Non-registrable interests relate to any other matters. 

  
4.   DECLARATIONS OF THE PARTY WHIP 

 
 

 
5.   QUESTIONS UNDER SCRUTINY COMMITTEE PROCEDURE 11.16 

 
 

 
6.   SCRUTINY SCOPING DOCUMENT 

 
9 - 12 

 To note the scrutiny scoping document for the panel, updated following the last 
meeting of the panel. 

  
7.   PUBLIC TRANSPORT PROVIDERS 

 
 

 To discuss the provision of bus services and to include the reliability and demand 
of bus services. 

  
8.   IMPROVING PASSENGER TRANSPORT THROUGH BUS 

SERVICE IMPROVEMENT PLAN PLUS AND NETWORK NORTH 
FUNDING 
 

13 - 78 

 To consider the report approved by the Leicestershire County Council Cabinet on 
19th December 2023. 

  
9.   SECTION 106 BRIEFING NOTE 

 
79 - 81 

 A briefing note outlining the Section 106 processes, prepared by the Team Leader 
– Strategic Development. 

  
10.   PUBLIC TRANSPORT SURVEY 

 
82 - 86 

 To consider a further draft of the Public Transport Survey. 
  

11.   WORK PROGRAMME AND KEY TASK PLANNING 
 

87 - 89 

 To schedule the key tasks in the scrutiny scoping document to be considered at 
the next meeting of the panel and to consider any work to be allocated to members 
of the panel in advance of the next meeting. Further scheduled meetings of the 
panel are:  
 
27th March 2024  
29th May 2024  
10th July 2024 

 
 

Page 2



 

 

1 
 

Public Transport Scrutiny Panel - 13th 
December 2023 

Published – 14th December 2023 

 

PUBLIC TRANSPORT SCRUTINY PANEL 
13TH DECEMBER 2023 

 
PRESENT:  The Chair (Councillor Maynard) 
 Councillors Campsall, Fox, Lawrence, O'Neill and 

Seaton 
  

Councillor Blackshaw (Cabinet Lead Member for 
Communities and Neighbourhoods) 
 

   
 Democratic Services Officer (SW) 
 
APOLOGIES: None   
 
The Chair stated that the meeting would be recorded and the sound recording 
subsequently made available via the Council’s website.  She also advised that, under 
the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, other people may film, 
record, tweet or blog from this meeting, and the use of any such images or sound 
recordings was not under the Council’s control. 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 
No apologies were received. 
 

2. DISCLOSURES OF PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND OTHER REGISTRABLE AND 
NON-REGISTRABLE INTERESTS  
 
No disclosures were made. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF THE PARTY WHIP  
 
No declarations were made.  
 

4. QUESTIONS UNDER SCRUTINY COMMITTEE PROCEDURE 11.16  
 
No questions were submitted. 
 

5. SCRUTINY SCOPING DOCUMENT  
 
Considered and discussed, the scrutiny scope document for the Panel, agreed by 
Scrutiny Commission at its meeting on 9th October 2023. The following summarises 
the discussion: 
  
       i.          The Democratic Services Officer explained that the scoping document was a 

live document and would be updated following each meeting, to reflect the 
discussions of the panel. 
  

      ii.          Members felt that the detail in the ‘what will be excluded’ section of the scoping 
document should be moved into the ‘what will be included’ section, as the 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 

 

2 
 

Public Transport Scrutiny Panel - 13th 
December 2023 

Published – 14th December 2023 

 

information was about the focus of the panel. The Chair stated that when 
scoping the document with the Democratic Services Manager, there was 
nothing obvious to include in the ‘what will be excluded’ section.  
  

    iii.          The panel felt that it would be beneficial to include the night-time economy in 
their scope, to look at the relationship between public transport use and the 
night-time economy. 
  

    iv.          The panel discussed some of the changes to bus services that they were 
aware of and felt that there was a requirement to identify the communities not 
being served by public transport. 
  

     v.          The panel discussed the idea of buses running on a rota system. For example, 
the bus service would take a different route each day to allow members of the 
community to travel to different areas within the Borough. 
  

    vi.          Demand Response Transport (DRT) was a service provided by Leicestershire 
County Council, that enabled members of the public to request a minibus to 
provide journeys not covered by official bus routes. For example, DRTs were 
used in some communities to transport people directly to supermarkets. It was 
highlighted that this type of service would not be reliable enough for people to 
use for a journey into work. The scoping document included requesting a 
delegate from Leicestershire County Council to speak to the panel as a 
witness. The panel felt that it would be beneficial for the delegate to discuss 
DRT with the panel. 
  

  vii.          It was highlighted that the Team Leader – Strategic Development in Charnwood 
Borough Council’s Planning department was due to attend the panel’s meeting 
on 7th February 2024, to discuss the link between Section 106 agreements and 
public transport. This discussion would now take place at the panel’s meeting 
on 27th March 2024. Members felt that a briefing note on the relationship 
between Section 106 agreements and public transport would be beneficial 
before the panel met with the officer, to enable them to develop an 
understanding and to prepare valuable questions for the officer.  
  

 viii.          Members felt that some of the bus services provided in the Borough were not 
reliable or dependable. This could mean that members of the community may 
look for other methods of transportation to avoid the lack of reliability. This 
decreases the demand for bus services and could result in services being cut.   

  
AGREED  
  

1.     That the panel notes the scoping document. 
  

2.     That the Democratic Services Officer change the scoping document to reflect 
the discussion during this item; 
  

       The detail in the ‘what will be excluded’ section of the scoping document 
should be moved into the ‘what will be included’. 
  

Page 4



 

 

3 
 

Public Transport Scrutiny Panel - 13th 
December 2023 

Published – 14th December 2023 

 

       To include the night-time economy in the scope of the panel. 
  

       To identify the communities that were not being served by public 
transport.  
  

3.     That a briefing note on the relationship between Section 106 agreements and 
public transport be prepared by the Team Leader – Strategic Development in 
advance of their meeting with the officer (27th March 2024). 

  
  
 

6. LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL BUS IMPROVEMENT PLAN  
 
In accordance with the scrutiny scope document (key tasks), considered and 
discussed, the Leicestershire County Council Bus Improvement Plan and its annual 
review, published in October 2022. The following summarises the discussion: 
  
       i.          The Democratic Services Officer highlighted that the Leicestershire County 

Council Cabinet would be considering a report titled ‘Improving Passenger 
Transport through Bus Service Improvement Plan Plus and Network North 
Funding’ at their meeting on 19th December 2023. The recommendations 
outlined in the report were to approve the revised Passenger Transport Policy 
and Strategy (PTPS), and to authorise the Director of Environment and 
Transport; 
  

       To use the Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP+) grant of £1,790,000 
for 2023/24 and £1,790,000 for 2024/25 and additional £4,050,000 one-
off revenue funding for 2024/25 from the Department for Transport 
detailed in this report to develop a reshaped Leicestershire supported 
passenger transport network, including working with transport operators 
through the Enhanced Partnership; 
  

       Following consultation with the Cabinet Lead Member, to amend the 
PTPS as necessary with regard to the mechanism for determining 
support for passenger transport services to reflect prevailing market 
forces. 

  
      ii.          The panel felt that it would be beneficial to review this report and the 

appendices to be considered by the Leicestershire County Council Cabinet and 
would schedule this into their work programme. The reports to the agenda were 
outdated and the new report to the Leicestershire County Council Cabinet 
would be more beneficial for the panel to review.  
  

    iii.          The panel agreed to invite a delegate from Leicestershire County Council to 
their meeting scheduled for 7th February 2024. 
  

    iv.          The panel agreed to invite delegates from bus providers (Kinch Bus, Arriva, 
Centre Bus) to their meeting scheduled for 7th February 2024. The discussion 
should include the reliability of bus services.  
  

Page 5



 

 

4 
 

Public Transport Scrutiny Panel - 13th 
December 2023 

Published – 14th December 2023 

 

     v.          The Lead Member for Communities and Neighbourhoods highlighted a Bus 
Service User Group, which she had been invited to attend. This group included 
members of the community that used bus services, and delegates from bus 
providers.  
  

    vi.          The panel discussed the ownership of bus stops in the Borough. Accessible 
and well maintained bus stops were more likely to be used. It was thought that 
some bus stops were adopted by the Borough Council and some were adopted 
by the Parish Councils.  

  
AGREED 
  

1.     That a delegate from Leicestershire County Council be invited to attend the 
panel meeting scheduled for 7th February 2024. 
  

2.     That delegates from Bus providers (Kinch Bus, Arriva, Centre Bus) be invited to 
attend the panel meeting scheduled for 7th February 2024. The discussion 
should include the reliability of bus services. 

 
7. PUBLIC TRANSPORT SURVEY  

 
In accordance with the scrutiny scope document (key tasks), considered and 
discussed, a report to consider the results of a borough-wide survey on the provision 
of public transport. The following summarises the discussion: 
  
       i.          It was recognised that there were areas within the Borough that had not been 

represented in the survey. 
  

      ii.          There had been only one response from the Loughborough area, and so it was 
difficult to understand the provision of public transport across the 
Loughborough area.  
  

    iii.          There was a train service available through some of the villages in the Borough. 
Whilst this was useful, there were a number of issues with the services. When 
flooding prevents bus services from operating through their usual routes, the 
train services were more popular as residents accessed alternative ways of 
getting out of the villages. This meant that train services were overprescribed 
and that people were denied access. It was also raised that trains were 
significantly more expensive to use than buses and so this made them 
inaccessible to some people.  
  

    iv.          It was suggested that the Public Transport survey be updated and circulated 
again to Borough Councillors only. This would ensure that Borough Councillors 
had a further opportunity to comment and this may increase the information 
obtained for the panel to consider. 
  

     v.          It was suggested that the Bus Service User Group could be utilised to gain 
further understanding of the issues residents faced in relation to public 
transport. The Democratic Services Officer agreed to look at this as a 
possibility.  

Page 6



 

 

5 
 

Public Transport Scrutiny Panel - 13th 
December 2023 

Published – 14th December 2023 

 

  
AGREED  
  

1.     That the Democratic Services Officer circulate an updated version of the Public 
Transport survey to Borough Councillors only. 
  

2.     That the Democratic Services Officer look at how the panel could work with the 
Bus Service User Group to gain further understanding of the issues residents 
faced in relation to public transport. 

 
8. WORK PROGRAMME AND KEY TASK PLANNING  

 
Considered and discussed, the key tasks in the scrutiny scope document and items 
raised during the meeting, to be considered at the next meeting of the Panel, and 
subsequent meetings, and any work members of the Panel would undertake in 
advance of the next meeting. The following summarises the discussion: 
  
       i.          The panel made changes to their work programme as follows; 
  

       The Team Leader – Strategic Development (Planning) be invited to the 
meeting of the panel scheduled for 27th March 2024, and a briefing note 
be requested in advance of that meeting. 
  

       Leicestershire County Council delegates to be invited to the panel 
meeting scheduled for 7th February 2024 to discuss DRTs and the 
‘Improving Passenger Transport through Bus Service Improvement Plan 
Plus and Network North Funding’. The Chair also raised that it may be 
beneficial for her to have a discussion with the Lead Member for 
Highways, Transportation and Flooding at Leicestershire County 
Council, following meeting with officers. It was suggested that the 
meeting scheduled for 7th February 2024 be moved to the day time to 
make the meeting more accessible to Leicestershire County Council 
officers. 

  
       Delegates from the bus companies (Kinch Bus, Arriva, Centre Bus) be 

invited to the panel meeting scheduled for 7th February 2024 to discuss 
the reliability of services and demand of services. 

  
Post meeting note: The panel also requested that a delegate from East 
Midlands trains be invited to the meeting on 7th February 2024. 

  
       The further information collected following the circulation of the updated 

Public Transport survey to ward members be scheduled for the panel 
meeting on 27th March 2024. Following the consideration of this 
information, the panel could decide on the communities not being served 
by public transport.  

  
AGREED 
  

Page 7



 

 

6 
 

Public Transport Scrutiny Panel - 13th 
December 2023 

Published – 14th December 2023 

 

1.     That the work programme be updated to reflect the discussions during this 
item.  
  

2.     That the  meeting scheduled for 7th February 2024 be moved to the day time, 
to increase the accessibility of the meeting for Leicestershire County Council 
officers.  

 
 
NOTES: 
 
1. No reference may be made to these minutes at the Council meeting on 15th 

January 2024 unless notice to that effect is given to the Democratic Services 
Manager by five members of the Council by noon on the fifth working day following 
publication of these minutes. 
 

2. These minutes are subject to confirmation as a correct record at the next meeting 
of the Public Transport Scrutiny Panel. 

 

Page 8



 1 

 
 

 
SCRUTINY REVIEW: SCOPE 

 
REVIEW TITLE:   Public Transport (Formal Panel) 
 
 
SCOPE OF ITEM / TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
Whilst it is recognised that the Council’s influence upon public transport is limited within the 
statutory framework, as transport plays a vital role in the vitality of the Borough, it is an 
important area to consider and as such the scope will include: 
 

• Examination of the current provision in relation to public transport in the Borough 
and what is required to increase and improve provision including consideration of 
carbon neutrality and net zero aims by 2030. 

 
• Identifying innovation and good practice that may be applied in the Borough. 

 
• Consideration of public transport provision written into planning S106 agreements  

 
 
REASON FOR SCRUTINY 
 
The reasons for putting this forward for a scrutiny Panel are that public transport plays a 
key role in the following; 
 

• Social inclusion  
• Economic growth  
• Reduction in environmental pollution 
• Meeting the needs of the community 

 
In addition, it is recognised that effective public transport links into Health and Well-Being. 
 
MEMBERSHIP OF THE GROUP 
 
Councillor Sarah Maynard (Chair) 
+  up to 5 other Members (following expressions of interest) 
 
WHAT WILL BE INCLUDED 
 
Borough wide provision 
Demand Response Transport (DRT) 
Leicestershire’s Bus Service Improvement Plan 
Night-time economy 
Communities not served 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 2 

 
The focus will be on public transport including commuting for work, training and education. 
 
WHAT WILL BE EXCLUDED 
 
N/A 
 
KEY TASKS * * including consideration of efficiency savings 
 

• Gather qualitative and quantitative evidence concerning the current provision of 
public transport across the Borough. 

• Examine the evidence presented by invited guests, including the current provision of 
bus transport.  

• Review Leicestershire County Council policies and practices and in particular the 
Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement plan 2022 with the intention of feeding into 
the annual review process. 

• Develop a Ward Member Survey to ascertain the various issues with public 
transport. 

• Potential site visits  
• Report writing 

  
STAKEHOLDERS, OUTSIDE AGENCIES, OTHER ORGANISATIONS * 

 
It is recognised that in considering this topic, Members of the Panel will need to 
engage the following stakeholders; 
 

• Officers at Leicestershire County Council who deal with transport 
• Education officers at Leicestershire County Council (student transport) 
• Cabinet Lead Member for transport (Leicestershire County Council) 
• Cabinet Lead Member for Communities and Neighbourhoods (Charnwood Borough 

Council)  (Cllr Blackshaw) 
• Cabinet Lead Member for Planning (Charnwood Borough Council) (Cllr Jadeja) 
• External service providers 
• Bus operators regarding routing matters 
• Head of Planning and Growth (Charnwood Borough Council)             
• Relevant  Community Groups 

 
  

 
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 
Equality / Diversity issues relating to this review will be considered as part of any work 
undertaken. 
 
An impact needs assessment will be considered at the Panels penultimate meeting 
 
 
LINKS/OVERLAPS TO OTHER REVIEWS 
 
N/A 

Page 10



 3 

 
 
RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
Support from Democratic Services can be accommodated. 
 
Anticipate 4/5 meetings. 
 
REPORT REQUIREMENTS (Officer information) 
 
Section 106 Agreements and Public Transport – Team Leader Strategic Development 
(Planning) – before March 2024. 
 
REVIEW COMMENCEMENT DATE COMPLETION DATE FOR DRAFT REPORT 
 
November 2023 

 
May/July 2024 

 
* Key tasks and stakeholders may be subject to change as the review progresses. 
 
PROGRESS OF PANEL WORK 

 
MEETING DATE PROGRESS TO DATE 

13th December 2023  
The panel made changes to the scoping as follows 
 
• To include the night-time economy in the scope of the panel.  
• To identify the communities that were not being served by public 
transport. 
 
The panel requested a briefing note on the relationship between 
Section 106 agreements and public transport to be prepared by the 
Team Leader – Strategic Development in advance of their meeting 
with the officer (27th March 2024). 
 
The panel agreed that a delegate from Leicestershire County 
Council be invited to attend the panel meeting scheduled for 7th 
February 2024. 
 
The panel agreed that delegates from Bus providers (Kinch Bus, 
Arriva, Centre Bus) be invited to attend the panel meeting 
scheduled for 7th February 2024. The discussion should include 
the reliability of bus services. 
 
The panel agreed that the Democratic Services Officer circulate an 
updated version of the Public Transport survey to Borough 
Councillors only. 
 
The Bus Service User Group be contacted to see whether the 
panel could link into their work to increase understanding of the 
issues faced by service users. 
 
That the meeting scheduled for 7th February 2024 be moved to the 

Page 11



 4 

daytime, to increase the accessibility pf the meeting for 
Leicestershire County Council officers. 
 

NOTES:  
 
Panel chair can only 
hold meetings on 
Wednesdays (preferably 
early evenings) 
 
To facilitate witness 
attendance, it is 
anticipated that times of 
the meetings will be a 
mix of daytime and early 
evening.   
 
Meetings can be held 
online/hybrid. 
 
The final 
recommendation 
formulisation meeting 
must be held in person. 
 
 

 

 
NOTE  

 

 
REPORT SUBMITTED TO SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
 

 
 

Page 12



 
 

  

CABINET – 19 DECEMBER 2023 
 

 IMPROVING PASSENGER TRANSPORT THROUGH BUS SERVICE 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN PLUS AND NETWORK NORTH FUNDING 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report   
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet regarding the award of grant 

funding to the County Council for passenger transport services, to set out an 
approach to using these funds, and to present a revised Passenger Transport 
Policy and Strategy to support this.  

 
Recommendations   

 
2. It is recommended: 
 

a) That the revised Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy (PTPS), 
attached to this report as Appendices A and B, be approved;  

 
b) That the Director of Environment and Transport be authorised:  

 
i. to use the Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP+) grant of 

£1,790,000 for 2023/24 and £1,790,000 for 2024/25 and additional 
£4,050,000 one-off revenue funding for 2024/25 from the Department 
for Transport detailed in this report to develop a reshaped 
Leicestershire supported passenger transport network, including 
working with transport operators through the Enhanced Partnership;  
 

ii. following consultation with the Cabinet Lead Member, to amend the 
PTPS as necessary with regard to the mechanism for determining 
support for passenger transport services to reflect prevailing market 
forces.  

 
Reasons for Recommendation   
 
3. The recent funding awards from the Government provide a unique opportunity 

to explore how the Council, working closely with local bus operators through its 
Enhanced Partnership (EP) with them, might take a different approach to 

61 Agenda Item 6

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



 
 

providing supported passenger transport services across Leicestershire and, 
therefore, enable a more resilient and secure commercial network.     

 
4. The revised PTPS would enable the Council to take a more flexible approach to 

help support communities and their high priority journey needs through efficient 
use of its budgets and utilising the commercial bus market through the EP to 
maximise a sustainable service offer to passengers and help stabilise the 
commercial market. 

 
5. Given the Council’s very challenging financial position, controls are required to 

ensure that it is not exposed to any new financial risks. The revised PTPS 
would also reinforce the mitigation of risks to the Council’s own budgets, 
caused by fluctuations and uncertainty in levels of future Government funding 
for passenger transport services, by setting out a revised mechanism for 
determining the strength of case for consideration of providing support for 
services. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
6. The Highways and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee was provided 

with a presentation on 9 November 2023 which outlined the intentions of the 
revised PTPS in the context of a wider passenger transport programme and 
current funding situation. The Committee’s views are included at paragraphs 
74-76 of this report. 

 
7. The EP was informed of the intention to revise the PTPS and provided with an 

overview of the main areas of change at its Forum on 21 September 2023 and 
its Board on 2 November 2023.  

 
8. A briefing was given to all Council Members on 31 October 2023, updating 

them on the Government funding awards, providing examples of how they 
might be used to support public transport in Leicestershire and outlining the 
intentions to refresh the PTPS to better align with national policy. 

 
9. Subject to the Cabinet’s approval of the revised PTPS, a review of services will 

begin in January 2024. Following this, a programme of locally focussed 
engagement on the outcomes of the service reviews will be developed following 
consultation with the Cabinet Lead Member. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions   
 
10. On 9 March 2018, the Cabinet considered a report concerning the need to 

develop a PTPS to replace the existing ‘Revised Policy on the Supported Bus 
Network’ and the outcome of a review of Community Bus Partnerships and the 
extension of contracts to June 2019. The Cabinet gave approval to undertake 
an engagement and consultation exercise on the draft PTPS.  

 
11. On 16 October 2018, the Cabinet considered a report on the outcome of 

consultation on the draft PTPS and approved the PTPS as the basis for future 
management of passenger transport services. Authorisation was also given to 

62

Page 14



 
 

the Director of Environment and Transport, following consultation with the 
Cabinet Lead Member, to implement the PTPS Operational Handbook.  
 

12. The County Council’s Environment Strategy 2018-2023 sets out how the 
Council will reduce the environmental impacts of travel and transport.  
Providing frequent, high quality passenger transport services is a key element 
in delivering the Strategy. 
 

13. In November 2020, the Cabinet approved the Leicester and Leicestershire 
Strategic Transport Priorities document (2020-2050), highlighting where the 
County and City Councils will work together to deliver common transport aims 
and objectives. Its principal aims include supporting the transition to a low-
carbon and circular economy; adapting to climate change; improving 
connectivity; supporting and driving the economy to unlock growth; and 
supporting the efficient movement of both people and goods around and 
through the County. 
 

14. In March 2021, the Government published its priorities and ambitions for road-
based passenger transport in the Department for Transport’s (DfT) publication, 
“Bus Back Better: national bus strategy for England.” This required the Council 
to establish the EP with operators as a condition to receiving future funding. It 
also required the Council to develop the Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) 
which sets out the vision, targets and initiatives to improve passenger transport 
in Leicestershire.  
 

15. In June 2021, the Cabinet considered a report on the National Bus Strategy 
(NBS) and noted that a further report would be submitted to the Cabinet in 
Autumn 2021, setting out proposals for an Enhanced Partnership Scheme 
(EPS) and BSIP for Leicestershire, and identifying any implications for the 
Council’s previously adopted PTPS.  
 

16. In October 2021, the Cabinet considered a report on the implementation of the 
NBS, setting out the implications for finances and the Council’s adopted PTPS. 
It resolved that the Council’s PTPS be reviewed, to take account of the formal 
establishment of the EP and the delivery of the BSIP. The Director of 
Environment and Transport emphasised that the extent of delivery of the 
ambitious plans would be dependent on the level of Government funding 
available and added that the existing PTPS would be used to assess the need 
for support where bus services were no longer commercially viable.  
 

17. In March 2022, the Cabinet noted the outcome of a consultation on the EPS. It 
approved the establishment of the EPS with bus service operators and resolved 
that registrations for local bus service changes and requests for funding to 
support local bus services continue to be assessed in line with the PTPS, 
pending a review of the PTPS once the EP was in place.  
 

18. In March 2022, the Cabinet also considered a report on Local Bus Service 
Challenges and Impacts, including a review of the PTPS to establish if it was 
still fit for purpose, and a wider network review of its contracted services. The 
BSIP set out that the PTPS would be reviewed in full, once the BSIP and EPS 

63

Page 15



 
 

had been developed, to ensure that full alignment was achieved. This review 
was undertaken in May 2022. The Cabinet authorised the Director of 
Environment and Transport, following consultation with the Cabinet Lead 
Member, and Director of Corporate Resources, to take such action as 
necessary to ensure the continued provision of services in line with the PTPS. 
 

19. In February 2023, the Cabinet noted the recommencement of the review of 
supported passenger transport services in line with the PTPS. The Cabinet also 
approved a proposed programme of local focussed engagement and 
consultation to inform affected communities on the review outcomes and 
intended course of action. However, in light of the BSIP+ funding awards, the 
reviews were further delayed.  
 

20. In May 2023, the DfT announced that the Council would receive approximately 
£1,790,000 in the financial year 2023/24 and the same amount in 2024/25. This 
funding is known as “BSIP+” funding. Following this announcement, the review 
of subsidised services was halted again and services were maintained at their 
existing level. 
 

21. In October 2023, the DfT announced further one-off revenue funding of 
£4,050,000, specific for public transport for the financial year 2024/25. This 
funding represents a share of the Government saving made from cancelling the 
second leg of HS2 and the redistribution of those monies as set out in the 
associated ‘Network North' funding document. 
 

Resource Implications   
 
22. The time-limited funding available to the Council provides an unprecedented 

and one-off opportunity to transform the Leicestershire subsidised public 
transport network and enhance the resilience and stability of the commercial 
public transport network. However, the short-term nature of the funding is not 
helpful and the Council will need to ensure that there are no legacy costs once 
the funding ends. Development of the network and associated initiatives will be 
a significant undertaking for the Department, in particular, for the Network 
Management Service. A Passenger Transport Programme Board has been 
established, supported by the Council’s Transformation Unit in conjunction with 
the service, to manage and deliver holistic changes through a range of 
initiatives, of which the potential network remodelling and review of the PTPS 
are a part.  

 
23. It is anticipated that additional resource and expertise will be required to deliver 

the initiatives and any reshaped network proposals and these will be funded 
through the BSIP+ and ‘Network North’ funding as necessary.  

 
24. In February 2023, prior to the recent funding announcements from the DfT, the 

Council’s subsidised bus services budget was facing a £1,000,000 shortfall in 
the 2023/24 financial year. There was also a requirement in the 2023-27 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) to make savings of an additional 
£200,000 per year with effect from 2024/25.  

 

64

Page 16



 
 

25. As outlined in paragraph 34 below, the BSIP+ funding is subject to a number of 
terms and conditions, with the ‘Network North’ public transport funding 
anticipated to come under the same restrictions. One of these conditions 
stipulated that recipients must retain existing funding levels for the duration of 
the funding, i.e., 2023-2025, and therefore necessary to defer the £200,000 
MTFS saving requirement to 2025/26. The £1,000,000 shortfall, although 
covered by the funding for 2023-2025, must still be addressed in the long-term, 
as it is not part of the existing budget levels.  

 
26. It must be noted, however, that funding post-2024/25 is still uncertain. If 

sufficient Government funding of an appropriate mix of capital and revenue is 
not forthcoming, the Council’s passenger transport budget could face significant 
funding challenges, as was reported to the Cabinet in February 2023. It is 
crucial, therefore, that the revised PTPS allows for a flexible approach to 
supporting services to reflect the prevailing funding position.  

 
27. It is also critical to note that the proposed network remodelling and PTPS are 

not mechanisms to reinstate services that have already ceased.  
 
28. The Director of Corporate Resources has been consulted on the content of this 

report. 
 
Legal Implications 

 
29. The Council’s legal duty regarding subsidised bus services is set out in Part B 

of the report. 
 
30. The Director of Law and Governance has been consulted on the content of this 

report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure  
  
31. This report will be circulated to all members. 
 
Officers to Contact    
 
Ann Carruthers 
Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel: 0116 305 7000 
Email: ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk  
 
Janna Walker 
Assistant Director Development and Growth, Environment and Transport 
Tel: 0116 305 0785 
Email: janna.walker@leics.gov.uk  

65

Page 17

mailto:ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:janna.walker@leics.gov.uk


 
 

PART B 
 

 
Background   
 
Government priorities and funding 
 
32. The Government’s priorities and ambitions for road-based passenger transport 

are set out in the DfT 2021 publication, “Bus Back Better: national bus strategy 
for England”. This required the Council to establish the EP with operators as a 
condition to receiving future funding. It also required the Council to develop the 
BSIP which sets out the vision, targets and initiatives to improve passenger 
transport in Leicestershire. 

 
33. The two tranches of £1,790,000 BSIP+ funding that the Council has been 

allocated (as outlined in paragraph 20) is intended to target actions that the 
Council and its EP expect will deliver the best overall outcomes in growing 
long-term patronage, revenues and thus maintaining service levels, whilst 
providing essential social and economic connectivity for local communities. 
  

34. The terms of this funding were set out in a Memorandum of Understanding that 
the Council was required to sign in order for the funds to be released. Specific 
terms to note are that this is revenue-based funding (not to be spent on 
physical infrastructure measures); the Council must maintain its existing bus 
budgets from all sources and demonstrate that the BSIP+ funding is additional 
to previously agreed budgets and that the DfT expects it to be spent within a 
reasonable timeframe with outputs delivered within 12 months of receipt. There 
may be flexibility around some of these terms, but this would be subject to the 
submission of a project access request form by the Council and its subsequent 
review and approval by the DfT. 

 
35. The further one-off £4,050,000 ‘Network North’ public transport funding for 

2024/25 (as outlined in paragraph 21) will be subject to the same terms and 
conditions as those set for the BSIP+ funding. This means there is a total of 
£5,840,000 for the 2024/25 financial year. Further four-year funding 
announcements are expected over the coming months and this is expected to 
be a mix of capital and revenue, which could provide an opportunity to carry out 
improvement schemes that may not be eligible under the current funding 
restrictions. The exact funding profile and mix is not yet known. 

 
The PTPS 
 
36. The context within which the PTPS has operated has changed significantly 

several times since its first adoption in 2018. Factors include the drop in bus 
usage during the Covid-19 pandemic and journey numbers not fully recovering 
since then; changing levels of grant funding; the publication of the NBS, with its 
requirement for authorities to establish EPs and BSIPs; and the Council’s 
increasing MTFS pressures. Therefore, the review of supported passenger 
transport services that commenced with the adoption of the PTPS in 2018 was 
delayed. 

66

Page 18



 
 

 
37. The review of supported passenger transport services in line with the PTPS 

recommenced in February 2023 working to a set programme of locally 
focussed engagement and consultation to inform affected communities on the 
review outcomes and intended course of action. However, in light of the BSIP+ 
funding awards the reviews were further delayed. 

 
38. A review of the PTPS was commissioned in September 2023, to provide a 

flexible approach to supported passenger transport services, within the current 
funding from the DfT and the uncertainty of future funding post-2024/25. The 
proposed revisions aim to help support communities and their high priority 
journey needs through the efficient use of its budgets and utilising the 
commercial bus market (through the EP) to maximise a sustainable service 
offer for passengers and help stabilise the commercial market. It will be a core 
tool for informing and implementing changes as part of a redesigned network. 

 
Adoption of the PTPS 
 
39. The PTPS was adopted in October 2018, following a countywide online and 

face-to-face public and stakeholder consultation, which was undertaken 
between 21 March and 13 June 2018. 

 
40. The adoption of the PTPS put in place a clear and transparent approach 

through which the Council would continue to provide value for money financial 
support to passenger transport services (unlike some authorities elsewhere in 
the country which have withdrawn support entirely) while endeavouring to 
ensure that Leicestershire residents have access to important services and 
facilities (such as primary health care, food shopping). Priority was given to 
trying to ensure that as many Leicestershire residents as possible were able to 
reach a local centre at least once per week to access these important services. 

 
41. The adoption of the Strategy also provided the Council with a mandate to 

review each of its supported local bus services against the objective PTPS 
assessment system, engage on the intended course of action for each service 
and implement the changes to ensure that the services provided were fit for 
purpose and were achieving best possible value for money. 

 
42. The Strategy considered support for services between 07:00 hours and 19:00 

hours Monday to Friday and between 08:00 hours and 18:00 hours on 
Saturday. There were three indicators under the PTPS that services were to be 
assessed against to determine the strength of case for consideration of subsidy 
support: 
 

a) Net subsidy cost per passenger per kilometre. 
b) Number of Leicestershire residents within the bus service’s catchment 

area who do not have access to another direct service to a local centre by 
other means (for example, a commercial bus or train service stopping 
within 800 metres of their home), and who are not within reasonable 
walking distance (800 metres) of a local centre. 

c) Journey purposes served. 

67

Page 19



 
 

 
43. The Cabinet, at its meeting in February 2023, approved engagement with 

communities on the outcomes of the service reviews and approved the Director 
of Environment and Transport’s delegated powers to implement the changes 
following consultation with the Cabinet Lead Member.  

 
Activity since the February 2023 Cabinet meeting 
 
44. In May 2023, when engagement with communities was about to begin on the 

outcome of the reviews, the DfT announced a second round of BSIP funding 
(known as BSIP+). The Council was allocated approximately £1,790,000 
revenue funds for the financial year 2023/24, with the same amount to follow in 
2024/25. The funding was aimed at sustaining services for the duration of the 
funding and making improvements to continue sustainability beyond 2024/25.  

 
45. Following this funding announcement, the review of services against the PTPS 

was once again halted with the continuation of support to existing subsidised 
services in the short-term due to this funding. It was made clear that this would 
not mean the reinstatement of commercial services that had already been 
withdrawn.  

 
46. As more detail was received from the DfT about the terms and conditions on 

the use of this funding, it was felt necessary to carry out a light-touch revision of 
the PTPS to ensure that it could better adapt to fluctuating funding levels, the 
changing passenger transport landscape, and ensure continued value for 
money, whilst appropriately aligning with the Government’s NBS. In addition, 
the funding allowed for the consideration of other initiatives that could improve 
services and underpin the ambitions of the Council’s BSIP.  

 
47. The review and update of the PTPS began in September 2023. In October 

2023, further one-off funding was announced by the DfT as part of its ‘Network 
North’ commitment to improve connectivity in the North and Midlands using the 
funding saved from the second leg of HS2. The Council was awarded a further 
£4,050,000 for the financial year 2024/25, in addition to the £1,790,000 already 
allocated from BSIP+. The project to update the PTPS continued, as it was felt 
that the principles of a flexible approach to subsidised services was still, if not 
more, necessary given the uncertainty around future funding. Whilst needing to 
be mindful of the terms and conditions of this funding, most notably the 
requirement to spend within a reasonable timeframe and outputs needing to be 
realised within 12 months of funding receipt, this additional funding does allow 
for an even more transformational approach to passenger transport to be 
considered, hence the proposal in this report to reshape Leicestershire’s 
passenger transport network. 

 
Proposals for using the available funding  
 
48. The combined BSIP+ and ‘Network North’ funding will enable the Council to: 

 
a) Complete a refresh of the BSIP. 
b) Assist operators to stabilise and strengthen the commercial network. 

68

Page 20



 
 

c) Work with operators to review and reshape the passenger transport 
network (both commercial and supported) across Leicestershire and 
enhance access to opportunities for people. 

d) Work with operators to trial discounted travel for younger people.   
e) Work with operators to standardise youth fares. 
f) Explore and develop appropriate ticketing schemes, for example, multi-

operator / tap on tap off with operators.  
g) Develop rail interchange marketing and information. 
h) Explore the feasibility of using Digital Demand Responsive Transport 

(DDRT) and to connect at more hubs across the county enabling greater 
connectivity and journey choice. 

i) Develop scheme designs for identified pinch points for buses on 
Leicestershire highway network in preparation for potential award of 
capital grants in future years.  

j) Work with operators to support the adoption of electric vehicles and other 
greener technologies.   

k) Develop a Leicestershire buses branding. 
l) Procure a contract management system and introduce a data portal to 

increase efficiency and improve data accuracy. 
m) Maintain the current Park and Ride provision. 
n) Seek appropriate specialist resource and advice where appropriate 

including financial, procurement, and legal. 
  

49. As part of this funding boost, the Council is also in a position to consider a 
different approach to the supported bus service network. This would involve 
working with operators directly and through the EP to redesign a passenger 
transport network for Leicestershire based around existing commercial services 
and providing more direct, attractive routes by bus and making better use of 
Flexibus models and DDRT similar to Fox Connect, providing services to more 
communities. Consideration could also be given to enhancing existing 
commercial services where appropriate, such as longer operating hours to 
facilitate shift work at a major employment centres. In addition, officers would 
seek to extend the current Park and Ride contract to enable a full procurement 
exercise.  

 
50. The Council would then tender contracts for the services that are not provided 

commercially on a longer-term basis (five years plus) than has been possible 
over recent years with the short-term, uncertain nature of funding.  
 

51. The benefits of this approach are expected to be: 
 

a) Alignment with the NBS.  
b) Increased stability and sustainability of the local commercial network. 
c) Enhanced viability of supported passenger transport network with greater 

commercial potential.  
d) Greater access to public transport in Leicestershire as well as improved 

journey choice.  
e) Better value for money for the investment in passenger transport services.  
f) Ability to provide operators with greater confidence to invest in new 

vehicle stock (bringing environmental benefits).  

69

Page 21



 
 

  
52. However, there are risks associated with this approach. Firstly, the continuation 

of funding from April 2025 by the DfT is subject to confirmation. Indications are 
that a £850,000,000 pot is available for the four years immediately after the 
current allocations; however, this has still to be confirmed as has the funding 
profile for each authority. It is therefore possible that considerable resources 
are committed to redesigning the network and putting it in place but that this 
would have to be removed without future funding and reductions in service to 
the ‘core offer’, as set out in the revised PTPS, would have to be implemented.   
 

53. Secondly, the use of the ‘Network North’ funding to let longer-term contracts will 
be subject to approval from the DfT. Details of the plans for the network will be 
submitted for approval at the earliest opportunity to mitigate this risk. Given the 
DfT’s requirements that outputs are delivered within 12 months, it will also be 
important to demonstrate good progress; therefore, engagement with operators 
will start in January 2024, subject to approval by the Cabinet.  

 
54. Thirdly, the approach is ambitious and requires considerably more resource 

both from the Council and from operators. Prior to BSIP+ the assumption has 
been that investment from the Council in local passenger transport services 
would decrease; as such, it may take time and considerable investment to build 
up the availability of vehicles, drivers or other requirements needed to deliver a 
new passenger transport network. Council officers will work with partners to 
better understand these challenges through the EP and consider any relevant 
factors in designing and procuring services.  
 

55. This approach would be feasible under the new PTPS proposed as part of this 
report. 

 
Proposed PTPS revisions 
 
56. The revised draft PTPS is attached at Appendices A and B. 
 
57. The revised PTPS will provide the framework to allow for a more flexible and 

creative approach to supporting passenger transport services. This includes 
services that are not the traditional scheduled, fixed-route bus service, such as 
Demand Responsive Transport (DRT) and DDRT. The revised PTPS allows a 
more flexible approach to supporting services that are either marginally 
commercial or would be withdrawn, whilst steps are taken to return the service 
to being commercially viable. 

 
58. It will allow the Council to do more, where affordable, and to prioritise spend 

when funding is reduced. 
 
59. It is recognised that the way services are assessed in determining whether to 

provide subsidy or change from a local fixed timetable bus to a DRT service, 
needs to be clear and understandable. The revised PTPS provides this by 
setting out a clear scoring mechanism, enabling the Council to do things 
differently, to make more efficient use of available funding and service provision 

70

Page 22



 
 

options. Decisions will be based on using the mechanism set out in the PTPS, 
with a view to mitigating risk in consideration of available funding. 

 
The current PTPS assessment criteria 
 
60. The current approach has a strong focus on local centre accessibility and 

support is generally not provided if alternative access to a local centre and 
essential services such as food shopping and healthcare is available, whether 
that might be the preferred destination of choice to communities. 

 
61. The strength of case for support of a service is based on a scoring system 

which is calculated using three key indicators listed in table 1 below. 
 

Table 1: The current criteria and scoring 

Indicator Score 

Net subsidy cost per passenger per kilometre  

(Higher the cost the lower the score is) 

0-20 

Accessibility 

Leicestershire residents within the service’s catchment area who 
do not have access to another direct service to a local centre by 
other means (for example, commercial bus or rail service) and who 
are not within reasonable walking distance (800 metres) of a local 
centre. (Higher the number of residents the higher the score is) 

0-10 

Journey purpose 

(Higher score given based on number of high priority purposes 
served, for example, primary health care, food shopping) 

0-5 

 
62. The service is given an overall score on which the case for support is 

determined. 
 

Table 2: Case-for-support rating 

Overall service score Case-for-support rating 

25 or more Strong 

20-24 Marginal 

<20 Weak 

 
The revised PTPS assessment process 
 
63. The proposed revised PTPS assessment process will also enable requests for 

marginal support, potentially through de-minimis arrangements, to be assessed 
in a more transparent way (de minimis refers to award of small amounts of bus 
subsidy without tender, as allowed by bus service tendering rules set out in 
Government regulations.  This is especially valuable where a variation or 

71

Page 23



 
 

addition to an otherwise commercial service is the most effective way of 
meeting a particular need). This includes requiring key service data to be 
provided by the operator and targets set to review performance with a view to 
the service requiring less subsidy and ultimately aiming to return to full 
commerciality. It will also focus on access to opportunities (facilities) as 
opposed to journey purpose. Services to be considered for subsidy support 
would go through the process set out in table 3 below.  

 
Table 3: Assessment process 

Step Activity 

Request is 
made 

• Operator approaches the Council prior to bus services registration 
process. 

• Data is provided that supports the request - evidence of viability 
issues, subsidy required, patronage etc. 

Assessment • The service is initially assessed on basis of the cost per 
passenger per kilometre indicator (17-20: strong, 15-16: marginal 
and under 15: weak). 

• If affordable, strong services will proceed as below, but 
marginal/weak will require full assessment. 

Conditions 
and targets 

• The Council and operators agree performance targets aiming at 
reduction in de-minimis subsidy – service to be reviewed 

against these targets. 

• Failure to meet these targets will mean the service is assessed 
and ranked in line with main criteria scoring. 

• Through liaison with the operator, the Council will set out in clear 
terms the conditional nature of support.  

Review • Service is reviewed in line with targets set and future funding 
decision is based on this. 

 
64. The proposed criteria and scoring are shown in table 4 below. In addition to 

updating costs metrics to reflect inflation, a key change in the revised PTPS 
scoring mechanism is in regard to the key indicator that now measures access 
to opportunities, meaning access to settlements that have high priority services 
and facilities, such as, primary health care, employment, education and food 
shopping. This is as opposed to measuring journey purpose. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

72

Page 24



 
 

Table 4: the proposed criteria and scoring 

Indicator Score 

Net subsidy cost per passenger per kilometre 

(Higher the cost the lower the score is) 

0-20 

Accessibility 

number of Leicestershire residents within the services catchment 
area who do not have access to another service and are not 
within reasonable walking distance (800 meters) of a large 
settlement centre. 

(Higher the number of residents the higher the score is) 

0-10 

Access to opportunities  
(See paragraph 66 and table 7) 

0-5 

 
65. The overall scoring mechanism indicating the overall strength of case for 

support has also been updated to differentiate and reflect the potential for 
support under de minimis arrangements (table 5 below). The comparison of 
scoring for fully supported and de minimis services is also outlined in table 6 
below. 

 
Table 5: Proposed case-for-support rating 

 Overall service score 

Case-for-support rating Supported services 
score out of 35 

De-minimis score 
out of 20 

Strong 25 or more 17 or more 

Marginal 20-24 15-16 

Weak <20 <15 

 
Table 6: Proposed scoring mechanism for fully supported service or de minimis 

Indicator Fully supported 

bus service 

De minimis 

bus service 

Cost per passenger per kilometre 0-20 0-20 

Access to an alternative bus / rail 
service 

0-10 - 

Access to opportunities 0-5 - 

Overall score  Out of 35  Out of 20 

 
Access to opportunities 
 

73

Page 25



 
 

66. Assessment criteria have been developed to measure access to opportunities, 
making the best use of available data. This metric enables more meaningful 
value to be attributed to the range of high priority services and facilities 
accessed by communities. The criteria are set out in table 7 below. The 
previous assessment of journey purpose was very resource heavy as it 
involved manual surveys of passengers, was difficult to achieve within the 
timescales of the registration process and was not always fully representative. 

 
Table 7: Evaluating access to opportunities 

Indicator Value range Score 

Access to opportunities 

 

(as measured by the 

relative size of the 

destinations served by 

the service, reflecting 

the availability of a 

range of facilities and 

services) 

Provides access to a city plus at least 
one large settlement. 

5 

Provides access to at least two large 
settlements. 

4 

Provides access to at least one large 
settlement. 

3 

Provides access to at least two 
medium settlements. 

2 

Provides access to at least one 
medium settlement. 

1 

Provides access to at least one small 
settlement. 

0 

 
Core offer 
 
67. The Strategy retains clear guidance on the ‘core offer’ that the Council would 

use in times of low funding. Without funding from external sources, the ‘core 

offer’ would be full or partial support in the form of: 
 

a) A scheduled bus within the Council’s budgetary constraints; or 
b) Replacing buses with basic taxi-type DRT services where scheduled 

services are not affordable or deemed not to offer value for money. 
 

68. When additional external funding is available, such as BSIP+ or Section 106, 
the Council may implement an enhanced offer including the potential for: 
 

a) Trialling and or implementing some of the more flexible means of service 
provision, such as new operating zones for the FoxConnect DDRT, new 
‘Flexibus’ services or enhanced taxi type DRT; 

b) Awarding short-term support in response to new de minimis requests from 
operators with a view to assisting borderline commercial services to return 
to commercial viability; 

c) Ticketing, fares, marketing and promotional projects through the Council's 
EP; 

d) Zero emission initiatives. 
 

69. Any ‘enhanced’ service provision supported with external funding will be 
reviewed at the end of the funding period and considered for ongoing support in 

74

Page 26



 
 

relation to other ‘core’ service provision, subject to staying within the Council’s 
budgetary constraints. 

 
Legal Duty 
 
70. A revised PTPS would support the Council’s responsibilities as the Local 

Transport Authority. The County Council has a statutory duty2 to secure the 
provision of local transport solutions which the private sector is unable or 
unwilling to provide. The Council also has other statutory duties which touch 
upon the provision of public transport2. However, the Council’s duty under the 

Transport Act 1985 is not absolute. Rather the duty simply requires transport 
provision so far as the Council considers it appropriate to meet any public 
transport requirements which would not otherwise be met. 

 
71. Section 109(1) of the Transport Act 2000 requires transport authorities to keep 

their local transport plan under review and alter it if they consider it appropriate 
to do so.   

 
72. Furthermore, as a “best value authority”, the Council is under a statutory duty3 

to secure continuous improvement in the way in which it exercises its functions, 
having regard to a combination of factors, including economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness. 

 
Consultation 
 
73. Engagement took place with the Highways and Transport Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee, with all Council Members and with the EP, as well as 
seeking advice from the DfT Relationship Officer.  

 
Comments of the Highways and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
74. On 9 November 2023, the Highways and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee considered a presentation which gave an update on the 
opportunities afforded by the funding announcements for the Leicestershire 
passenger transport network, including the work undertaken to refresh the 
PTPS. 

 
75. The funding was welcomed by the Committee, but disappointment was 

expressed by members at the timescale within which it was to be used.  
 

76. The Committee was keen to ensure that operators’ engagement around service 
changes was improved and that partnership working would be strengthened. It 
was suggested that this could include rail ticketing to offer a more integrated 
service. It was felt that, although an excellent offer, more consideration needed 

                                                           
2 Section 63(1)(a) of the Transport act 1985. 
2 Road Traffic Reduction Act 1997 (duty to prepare reports setting out targets to reduce congestion); Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1997 (duty to exercise functions to secure the expeditious, convenient, and safe movement of traffic) & Transport Act 2000 
(duty to produce a local transport plan).  
3 Section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 1999. 

75

Page 27



 
 

to be given to the accessibility of DRT/DDRT and the applications operators 
used.    

 
Further engagement 

 
77. Subject to the Cabinet’s approval of the recommendations, full engagement will 

be planned throughout the network redesign and implementation of service 
changes through the PTPS. This will include passengers, non-passengers, the 
EP, individual operators, the DfT and other stakeholders. It will also involve a 
comprehensive review of the Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) along with 
engagement with special interest groups or representatives of people with 
protected characteristics. 

 
Conclusion 
 
78. The funding from the DfT for the financial years 2023/24 and 2024/25 provides 

a unique opportunity to make real improvements to the passenger transport 
network and services over the next two years. The position after this funded 
period is less certain and it is, therefore, necessary to ensure that the Council is 
in a position to adapt its support to services according to the prevailing budget 
situation.  

 
79. The proposed revisions to the PTPS are necessary to enable prioritisation and 

decision-making on supporting services to meet priority travel needs and 
opportunities, particularly relating to employment and training. It would also 
allow for a more flexible approach to supporting services that are close to being 
financially viable for the operator, with a view to returning them to commerciality 
as soon as possible. This approach benefits operators in being able to continue 
to deliver valuable well-used services by receiving support, where deemed it 
provides value for money, supporting the commercial market to continue to 
provide the majority of bus services in the county. It also crucially benefits both 
the Council in targeting limited funds to provide efficient passenger transport 
services that represent value for money, and in keeping Leicestershire 
communities connected to the high priority services and facilities they need. 

 
Equality Implications  
 
80. An EIA on the proposed revisions to the PTPS has been undertaken and found 

that whilst this will result in some changes to passenger transport provision 
these changes should have a positive impact, as in essence access to high 
priority services should be enhanced, particularly so with the Government 
funding that has been awarded. It recognises that should funding and therefore 
budgets be reduced in the longer-term, then the subsequent need to reduce 
provision would have a negative impact on older people, people with disabilities 
and people living in rural or deprived areas. However, this impact risk is no 
different to what is there now with the current PTPS.    
 

81. A full EIA is attached at Appendix C. 
 
Human Rights Implications 

76

Page 28



 
 

 
82. There are no human rights implications arising from the recommendations in 

this report. 
 
Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
83. There are no direct anticipated crime and disorder implications. 
 
Environmental Implications 
 
84. Providing and promoting a sustainable public transport network, resulting in 

increased passenger usage, should have a positive impact on the Council’s net 
zero county commitment.  

 
Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 
85. The delivery of the Leicestershire BSIP (to the extent possible within funding 

constraints) is driven by a formal EP between the Council and Leicestershire 
bus operators. The EP also includes opportunity through a broad ‘Enhanced 
Partnership Forum’ for a wide range of other stakeholders to provide input and 
suggestions on how the BSIP should best be implemented. As such, the EP 
and its Board have a significant interest in the implications of the PTPS. 

 
86. The Council works closely with and receives guidance and funding from the DfT 

in implementing passenger transport initiatives. Relationships are also 
maintained with neighbouring authorities to address cross-border matters.  

 
Risk Assessment 
 

87. In February 2023, when the Cabinet last considered the PTPS, there was a 
high likelihood of negative public reaction. The proposed changes to the PTPS, 
plus the additional one-off funding in 2023/24 and 2024/25, mean that, for the 
short-term, services can be sustained with a view to improving provision as well 
as increasing the resilience of the County’s bus operation. There is, however, a 
need to ensure that services offer value for money and meet passengers’ 
priority travel needs. This may lead to changes to some services that could still 
garner negative public reaction, although this risk is significantly reduced.  

 
88. Although there is funding for the financial years 2023/24 and 2024/25, with the 

expectation that further ongoing funding will be allocated for the following four 
years, it is not guaranteed beyond 2024/25. If funding is not forthcoming, the 
Council’s ability to continue supporting some services would be limited, 
resulting in reductions or withdrawal of support. Further funding would also not 
address the current budget shortfall or upcoming MTFS commitments which will 
still need to be mitigated.  

 

89. There are risks around operators’ ongoing viability and interest in tendering for 
supported services. This could lead to some services being left without an 
operator, or unsustainably high contract costs.  

77

Page 29



 
 

 
 
 

Background Papers   
 

Report to the Cabinet on 9 March 2018, ‘Draft Passenger Transport Policy and 
Strategy Review of the Community Bus Partnerships’ 
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MID=5178#AI54445 
 
Report to the Cabinet on 16 October 2018, ‘Draft Passenger Transport Policy and 
Strategy’, including appended EHRIA: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5184&Ver=4  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 22 June 2021, ‘National Bus Strategy’: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6444&Ver=4  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 26 October 2021, ‘National Bus Strategy’:  
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6447&Ver=4  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 29 March 2022, ‘National Bus Strategy – Enhanced 
Partnership Plan and Scheme and Bus Service Improvement Plan’: 
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6774&Ver=4  
Report to the Cabinet on 29 March 2022, ‘Local Bus Service Challenge and 
Impacts’: 
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6774&Ver=4 
 
Current Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy (PTPS) (2018): 

• Policy: 

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/5/10/Passen
ger%20Transport%20Policy.pdf  

• Strategy: 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/5/10/Passen
ger%20Transport%20Strategy.pdf 

 
Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP):  
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/buses-and-public-transport/bus-
service-improvement-plan-bsip 
 
Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme: 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/buses-and-public-
transport/enhanced-partnership-plan-and-scheme 
 
Report to the Highways and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 9 

November 2023 and minutes of that meeting 
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1293&MId=7176  
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Draft revised Passenger Transport Policy  
Appendix B: Draft revised Passenger Transport Strategy  

78

Page 30

https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MID=5178#AI54445
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5184&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6444&Ver=4
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6447&Ver=4
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6774&Ver=4
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6774&Ver=4
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/5/10/Passenger%20Transport%20Policy.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/5/10/Passenger%20Transport%20Policy.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/5/10/Passenger%20Transport%20Strategy.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/5/10/Passenger%20Transport%20Strategy.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/buses-and-public-transport/bus-service-improvement-plan-bsip
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/buses-and-public-transport/bus-service-improvement-plan-bsip
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/buses-and-public-transport/enhanced-partnership-plan-and-scheme
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/buses-and-public-transport/enhanced-partnership-plan-and-scheme
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1293&MId=7176


 
 

Appendix C: Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
 

79

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



Appendix A 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Leicestershire County Council 

Passenger Transport Policy 

December 2023 

 

81

Page 33



2  

Foreword 
 

Leicestershire County Council recognises the important role that passenger transport 

services have to play in keeping people and places connected, especially in a rural 

county such as Leicestershire. Use of such services rather than private car travel 

also helps reduce congestion and limit emissions. 

 

Facilitating and supporting an appropriate mix of services, working with communities 

and commercial and 3rd sector operators, is a key aim for the Council, against a 

backdrop of a challenging funding situation. These will meet statutory requirements, 

help Leicestershire County Council deliver on its strategic priorities and outcomes, 

and support the people of Leicestershire in accessing key services. 

 

Our Passenger Transport Policy and the associated Passenger Transport Strategy 

have been developed to help us to take account of these needs and challenges.

82

Page 34



3  

1. The Passenger Transport Framework 
 

1.1 The framework shown in Figure 1.1 places our approach to supporting 

passenger transport in Leicestershire in context. The Passenger Transport  

Policy and Strategy sets the context against which service delivery and 

performance will be monitored on an ongoing basis. The framework reflects 

current Government thinking on service development, delivery and 

performance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

83

Page 35



4  

Figure 1.1: Passenger Transport Framework 

PASSENGER TRANSPORT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

DIRECTION 
Passenger Transport Policy 

Passenger Transport Strategy 

Bus Service Improvement Plan 

Enhanced Partnership Plan & Scheme 

 

 
PLANNING

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
REVIEW AND 

CONTINUOUS 
IMPROVEMENT 

Planning of services 
 

Influencing of commercial & 3rd sector providers 
 

Commissioning & procurement of services, where 

necessary 
 

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
 
 

 
OUTPUTS 

 

Passenger transport service operation 
 

Passenger transport information & 

infrastructure 

 

 

 

Outcomes 

 

Monitored performance 
 

Customer satisfaction 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Knowledge 
 

• Corporate Strategy & Outcomes 

• Local Transport Policy & Plan 

• Legal Requirements 
• Stakeholder Expectations 

Influences 
 

• External Political & Financial Direction 

• Influences on the Demand for Travel 

• Future Changes in Demographics 
• Supply Market Changes 

ENABLERS 
 

Political, Corporate 
and Departmental 
Leadership 
 
Organisational 
Structure 
 
Enhanced 
Partnership 
 
Financial Systems 
 
Operational 
Processes 
 
IT Systems 
 
Performance 
Monitoring 
 
Competencies and 
Training 
 
Risk Management  
 
Staff Resources  
 
Market Intelligence  
 
Financial Resources 

84

Page 36



5  

2. The Document Framework 
 

2.1. This Policy and the associated Passenger Transport Strategy document 

sit within a document framework that is similar to those used in other areas 

of responsibility covered by the Council’s Environment and Transport 

Department. Figure 2.1 below shows the framework within which these 

documents sit. 
 

Figure 2.1: Document Framework 
 
 

Passenger Transport Policy 
 

Sets out the links to the County Council’s 2022-2026 Strategic Plan and provides a 

statement of the overall policy objectives. Also sets out high-level principles that will  

be adopted in implementing the policy 

  

Passenger Transport Strategy 
 

A high-level document setting out the strategic direction that we will apply to the 

delivery of the Passenger Transport Policy 

  

Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) 
 

Sets out the vision for bus service provision in the county in response to  

the National Bus Strategy 

  

Enhanced Partnership (EP) Plan and Scheme 
 

Sets out the Enhanced Partnership governance arrangements and details of the 
priority schemes to be taken forward from the BSIP  

  

Passenger Transport Operational Handbook 
 

A more detailed document setting out the processes that will be followed in 

delivering the Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy 

  

Commissioning, procurement, delivery and monitoring of passenger 

transport services, in association with commercial operators and 

community groups. 

85

Page 37



6  

Passenger Transport Policy 

3. Purpose 
 

3.1. This document sets out the policy objectives and key supporting principles 

that guide the County Council’s support for road-based passenger transport 

services across Leicestershire. It supersedes the County Council’s 2018 

Passenger Transport Policy. 

3.2. The policy is intended to meet the statutory duties placed on the authority and 

address priority needs within budget constraints. The relevant statutory duties 

and powers of the County Council can be summarised as follows: 

• Outside London, operation of local bus services was largely opened to 

commercial market forces by the Transport Act 1985, making bus service 

operation a profit-driven business. However, Section 63(1)(a) of the Act 

explains that local transport authorities must “secure the provision of such 

public passenger transport services as the council considers it 

appropriate to secure to meet any public transport requirements within 

the county which would not in their view be met apart from any action 

taken by them for that purpose.” Leicestershire County Council is a local 

transport authority within the meaning of the 1985 Act. 

• The County Council, in common with other transport authorities, is 

required to formulate, from time to time, general policies on the type of 

services it proposes to secure under the above duty – as covered in this 

document and the associated Passenger Transport Strategy document. 

• As a local transport authority, the County Council is provided with 

powers   by the 1985 Act to: 

• Enter into an agreement providing for service subsidies for the 

purpose of securing any service. 

• Take any measures that appear to be appropriate for the purpose 

of, or in connection with, promoting the availability and operation of 

public passenger transport. 

• The Transport Act 1985 also requires an authority in exercising its power 

to promote the availability of public passenger transport services, to have 

regard to the needs of older or disabled people. 

• The Transport Act 2000 (amended in 2008) introduced the means for 

local authorities and bus operators to enter into bus quality partnerships. 

It also required authorities to consult on, and determine, what local bus 

information should be made available to the public and the way in which 

86

Page 38



7  

it should be made available. Where satisfactory arrangements for 

information provision cannot be made with operators, authorities are 

required to make information available. 

• The Bus Services Act 2017 provides local transport authorities with a 

wider set of tools to use to address ‘inefficiencies’ in their local bus 

markets and to work with commercial bus operators to provide better 

local bus services for passengers. It includes provision for improving 

local bus quality partnerships, making franchising (the London model of 

bus operation) easier, and improving information provision.  

 

3.3. In March 2021, the Government published its National Bus Strategy ‘Bus 

Back Better’. The Strategy recognised that the Covid-19 pandemic had 

caused a significant shift away from public transport to the private car.  The 

Strategy proposed radical improvements to local public transport as a 

‘quick, easy and cheap’ way to avoid a car-led recovery from Covid.  

 

3.4. In response to the Government’s National Bus Strategy published in March 

2021, the Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) was 

published in October 2021 by Leicestershire County Council and its 

partners. The BSIP set out the vision for bus service delivery in the county: 

 
Our future bus network will seamlessly connect people with 

employment locations, education and training opportunities, key 

services, other transport modes, leisure destinations and, of 

course, each other; in a way that is reliable, affordable, 

environmentally friendly, easy-to-use, safe and inclusive.   

3.5. The overall aim of the BSIP is: 

To increase bus usage (compared with pre-pandemic levels) 

across the county through improved, financially sustainable, 

higher standard services that better meet the needs of 

Leicestershire residents, employees and visitors – making bus 

travel a preferred choice for travel around the county and travel 

into the City of Leicester.  This will enable long term clean growth, 

supporting delivery of the Leicester & Leicestershire Strategic 

Growth Plan. 

 
3.6. Following submission of the BSIP, an Enhanced Partnership (EP) Plan and 

Scheme were ‘made’ on 31st March 2022.  The EP Plan details governance 

arrangements for the Enhanced Partnership which will deliver the BSIP, 

whilst the EP Scheme highlights the priority projects to be implemented by 

the Partnership. The EP Plan and Scheme documents can be viewed here. 

This Passenger Transport Policy has been amended to reflect the new 

priorities in the BSIP.  

87

Page 39

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/buses-and-public-transport/enhanced-partnership-plan-and-scheme


8  

4. Scope 
 

4.1. This policy is applicable to road-based general passenger transport services 

within Leicestershire. This covers a broader spectrum than just conventional 

‘big bus’ services and includes passenger transport solutions using a range of 

appropriate smaller vehicles. Rail travel, commercial taxi and private hire 

services, and specialist transport services for education and social care 

purposes, are not included as these are dealt with in other policy documents. 

 

5. The Passenger Transport Policy and Supporting 

Principles 
 

5.1. Implementation of the policy and supporting principles set out below and the 

associated Passenger Transport Strategy will be evidence-based. The 

Council will work through the Enhanced Partnership as appropriate to achieve 

beneficial outcomes for passengers. Objective data and information will be 

sought to underpin decisions made. 

 

Policy 
 

PTP1 Leicestershire County Council will continue to encourage 

residents, workers and visitors to use passenger transport 

services in preference to the private car wherever possible, 

because of the environmental and decongestion benefits of doing 

so. 

PTP2 Leicestershire County Council will encourage commercial 

transport operators to meet as many of the access needs of 

Leicestershire residents, workers and visitors as possible through 

provision of commercial transport services. 

PTP3 Leicestershire County Council will encourage community 

organisations to provide transport services for their communities 

that address access needs that are not covered by commercial 

passenger transport services. The aim will be for such services to 

be self-financing; however, the Council will provide some level of 

grant support (within affordability constraints) to help facilitate the 

establishment and operation of such services where necessary. 

88

Page 40



9  

PTP4 In the planning of new development in Leicestershire, the County 

Council will work with district and borough councils (planning 

authorities) to ensure that viable, long term accessibility by 

passenger transport is properly considered and, where 

appropriate, contributions are secured to facilitate such 

accessibility. 

PTP5 Where commercial, development-supported or community 

passenger transport services do not meet high priority needs for 

some residents, the County Council may consider intervening by 

offering organisational, operational or financial support for 

alternative passenger transport services. Leicestershire County 

Council is not a major passenger transport provider to the general 

public and will generally only consider intervening where there is 

demonstrable and significant unmet demand1 for transport 

services that serve the high priority journey purposes of 

employment and training, food shopping and primary healthcare. 

Financial support will only be offered subject to affordability, 

value-for-money and other criteria defined within the Passenger 

Transport Strategy. 

PTP6 The County Council will ensure all eligible elderly and disabled 

people are able to travel at concessionary rates on registered 

local bus in   accordance with statutory requirements. 

PTP7 The County Council will work with commercial and community 

service providers to ensure that up-to-date, clear and accurate 

information is available to the public on passenger transport 

services through a range of appropriate information channels. 

 

 

Supporting Principles 
 

SP1 Leicestershire County Council will engage with local communities that 

approach us, to identify any demonstrable and significant unmet 

demand for travel for the high priority purposes identified in PTP5. The 

Council will also work with these local communities to discuss ways of 

shaping passenger transport services to best meet local needs. 

SP2 Leicestershire County Council will engage with commercial passenger 
transport service operators to explore ways of shaping their services to 

 
 

1 The level of passenger demand meeting this test will depend on the nature and cost of the particular 

potential service or part-service under consideration. 

89

Page 41



10  

 meet local needs, and maximising use of those services. 

SP3 Leicestershire County Council will engage with community 

organisations to explore ways of shaping community transport services 

to meet local needs, and of maximising use of those services. 

SP4 The County Council will work with operators and neighbouring 

authorities to seek to encourage use of low emission technologies on 

passenger transport vehicles operated in Leicestershire. 

SP5 The County Council will work with operators and neighbouring 

authorities to seek to promote passenger transport use over the private 

car through behavioural change initiatives. This will help passenger 

transport services remain or become commercially viable. 

SP6 The County Council will seek additional funding for operating or 

promoting passenger transport through competitive bids to appropriate 

specific funds established by Government from time to time. 

SP7 The County Council will seek user and non-user feedback on 

passenger transport services that are supported financially, 

in line with customer satisfaction monitoring proposals 

outlined in the BSIP. 

SP8 The County Council will require operators of financially supported 

services to provide accurate monthly data on use of the services, in 

order to ensure that they still represent value for money. 

SP9 Commercial transport service providers and community transport 

service providers will be expected to take the lead role in providing 

public information on services that they operate. 

SP10 Where the Council supports passenger transport services financially, it 

will seek to maximise value from those services, including looking at 

their potential to carry school and college attendees. 

 
  

90

Page 42



11  

 

6. How this Policy Supports the County Council’s    

Strategic Aims 
 

6.1. Our corporate vision is set out in the County Council’s Strategic Plan, which 

highlights five strategic outcomes for the County over the four-year period 

from 2022 to 2026.  

6.2. The Passenger Transport Policy is intended to help deliver the five priority 

outcomes that guide all activities of the County Council. The five priority 

outcomes which essentially give a target vision for the future of Leicestershire 

are: 

1. Clean and Green: the need to protect and enhance the environment and 
tackle climate change 

2. Great Communities: Leicestershire to have active and inclusive 
communities in which people support each other and participate in service 
design and delivery 

3. Improved Opportunities: all children and young people get the best start 
for life and have the opportunities they need to fulfil their potential, 
regardless of their circumstances 

4. Strong Economy, Transport and Infrastructure: use local innovation and 
skills to build a productive, inclusive and sustainable economy at the 
cutting edge of science, technology and engineering 

5. Safe and Well: ensuring that people are safe and protected from harm, 
live in a healthy environment and have the opportunities and support they 
need to live active, independent and fulfilling lives 

 

6.3. The ways that the Passenger Transport Policy can help deliver these 

outcomes are set out below: 

Clean and Green 

The Passenger Transport Policy will help to minimise the negative 
environmental impact of transport on the environment by: 

• Continuing to support public transport services 

• Supporting public transport services in a way which best meets the 
level of need to avoid operating under-used ‘big bus’ services where 
appropriate 

• Encouraging commercial operators to invest in zero emission vehicles 
and preparing bids for funding of such vehicles and supporting 
infrastructure 

 

91

Page 43



12  

Great Communities 
 

The Passenger Transport Policy will contribute to good quality, thriving 

neighbourhoods by helping to ensure that local communities are 

encouraged and supported in contributing to their own passenger transport 

solutions. 

Improved Opportunities 
 

The policy will contribute to good life chances for all by: 
 

• Helping people in Leicestershire who don’t have access to a 

private car  reach key services and facilities by passenger 

transport, where that is possible within affordability and value-

for-money criteria 

• Contributing to accessibility of workplaces and training / 

education centres that help deliver good life chances 

• Helping to ensure that people are aware of the 

passenger transport    opportunities available to them by 

working with commercial and community partners to 

make information readily available 

Strong Economy, Transport and Infrastructure  
 

The Passenger Transport Policy will help to deliver the right conditions for a 

thriving local economy that can attract inward investment. In particular, it will 

help: 

• Minimise congestion on Leicestershire’s roads (since passenger 

transport vehicles generally take up less space per person than 

private cars) with the consequent delays and journey time 

variability that hinder business operations 

• Help to ensure accessibility of workplaces and other economic 

centres for all, particularly those  without access to a private car 

• Support commercial bus operators, with consequent 

direct local employment benefits 

Safe and Well 
 

The Passenger Transport Policy will seek to ensure that, where finance 

allows, local public transport services are provided in areas where 

commercial services are not viable, to ensure that people are able to access 

the facilities and services they need to lead fulfilling, independent lives. 

92

Page 44



13  

7. Supporting Delivery of the County Council Local 

Transport Plan  
 

7.3. The County Council recognises the very important role that buses and other 

passenger transport services have to play in keeping people and places 

connected, especially in a largely rural county such as Leicestershire. The 

County Council has declared a Climate Emergency with the target of 

achieving ‘net zero’ across the county. Enabling our communities to use 

sustainable buses and other passenger transport services helps improves air 

quality in Leicestershire’s towns and villages, limits carbon emissions and 

helps reduce congestion. 

7.4. The County Council also recognises the significant challenge that it faces in 

delivering services against a background of reduced local government funding 

and uncertainties around long term funding specifically for passenger 

transport services. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) sets out this 

challenge and identifies where the County Council intends to deliver 

efficiencies and savings in the medium term.  

7.5. The County Council’s Local Transport Plan (LTP), alongside the 

Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) and associated 

Enhanced Partnership (EP) Scheme, sets out the Council’s aims and 

ambitions to support Leicestershire communities to access and use buses 

and other passenger transport services. 

7.6. The implementation of the Passenger Transport Policy underpinned by the 

Passenger Transport Strategy will support the delivery of the LTP and its 

goals by setting out the County Council’s approach to supporting passenger 

transport in Leicestershire. The current LTP will be assessed and reviewed 

where appropriate to ensure that it remains fit-for purpose in light of 

Government guidance and legislation and as part of the development of 

specific plans and strategies that support it.  

 

8. Policy Review 
 

8.3. This policy is closely aligned to other developing policy documents across 

Environment and Transport services. It will be subject to regular review and 

sense- checking while these documents are in development. 

8.4. Following this revision, the policy will be considered for review within 5 years 

or earlier if there are  significant changes in local circumstances, national policy 

or guidance that affects passenger transport. 

93

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46



1  

Appendix B 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Leicestershire County Council 

Passenger Transport Strategy 

December 2023 

 

95

Page 47



1  

Passenger Transport Strategy 

Foreword 
 

Leicestershire County Council recognises the important role that passenger 

transport  services have to play in keeping people and places connected, especially 

in a rural county such as Leicestershire. Use of such services rather than private 

car travel also helps reduce congestion and limit emissions. 

Facilitating and supporting an appropriate mix of services, working with communities 

and commercial and 3rd sector operators, is a key aim for the Council, against a 

backdrop of a challenging funding situation. This will help: 

• Meet statutory requirements. 

• Leicestershire County Council deliver on its strategic priorities and outcomes. 

• Support the people of Leicestershire in accessing key services. 

Our Passenger Transport Policy (PTP) - and the associated Passenger Transport 

Strategy (PTS) to deliver that Policy, set out in this document – have been 

developed  to help us to take account of these needs and challenges. 

96

Page 48



2  

1. The passenger transport framework 
 

1.1. The framework shown in Figure 1.1 places our approach to supporting 

passenger transport in Leicestershire in context. The PTP and PTS set the 

context against which service delivery and performance will be monitored on 

an ongoing basis. The framework reflects current Government thinking on 

service development, delivery and performance. 

 

Figure 1.1: Passenger Transport Framework 

 
 

97

Page 49



3  

2. The document framework 
 

2.1. This PTS document sits within a framework that is similar to those used in 

other areas of responsibility covered by the Council’s Environment and 

Transport Department, as shown in Figure 2.1. 

Figure 2.1: Document Framework 
 

Passenger Transport Policy 
 

Sets out the links to the County Council’s 2022-2026 Strategic Plan and provides a 

statement of the overall policy objectives. Also sets out high-level principles that will  

be adopted in implementing the policy 

  

Passenger Transport Strategy 
 

A high-level document setting out the strategic direction that we will apply to the 

delivery of the Passenger Transport Policy 

  

Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) 
 

Sets out the vision for bus service provision in the county in response to  

the National Bus Strategy 

  

Enhanced Partnership (EP) Plan and Scheme 
 

Sets out the Enhanced Partnership governance arrangements and details of the 
priority schemes to be taken forward from the BSIP  

  

Passenger Transport Operational Handbook 
 

A more detailed document setting out the processes that will be followed in 

delivering the Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy 

  

Commissioning, procurement, delivery and monitoring of passenger 

transport services, in association with commercial operators and 

community groups. 

 

  

98

Page 50



4  

 

3. Purpose and scope 
 

3.1. This document sets out the overall strategy that Leicestershire County 

Council   will adopt to pursue the policy goals and supporting principles set out 

in our Passenger Transport Policy. It supersedes the County Council’s 2018 

Passenger Transport Strategy. 

3.2. This Strategy is focussed on road-based general passenger transport 

services within Leicestershire, including conventional ‘big bus’ services and 

other passenger transport solutions using a range of appropriate smaller 

vehicles. 

 

4. Priorities 
 

4.1. Many people’s passenger transport needs in Leicestershire will be met by 

commercial services. One of our priorities will therefore be to support the 

commercial market to the extent that we can, by encouraging use of those 

services in preference to the private car and by working with operators to 

create the conditions in which commercial services can thrive. Other 

passenger transport needs may be met by community transport services. 

4.2. Where some transport needs cannot be met by the commercial market or by 

community transport services, the council has to consider whether it should 

intervene in the market by offering organisational, operational or financial 

support to any additional passenger transport services. We therefore need to 

look at what our priorities for such support are, in the context of limited 

funding availability. 

Priority groups 
 

4.3. As noted in our PTP document, to deliver the Council’s Strategic Plan priority 

outcomes there is emphasis on supporting a high level of health and 

wellbeing (including combating isolation), and on helping deliver the right 

conditions for a thriving local economy. We also have a statutory obligation to 

consider the needs of ‘elderly and disabled’ people in determining what to 

support and how to provide passenger information. 

4.4. Meeting some key needs of older, disabled or isolated people is therefore 

given higher priority than meeting needs of other sectors of the population. 

We also give higher priority to meeting the needs of people living in 

employment-deprived areas in order to help them access the job market. This  

prioritisation is in line with Leicestershire’s Third Local Transport Plan (LTP3), 

which emphasises ‘continuing to improve the connectivity and accessibility of 

our existing transport system for vulnerable individuals, groups and 

99

Page 51



5  

communities’. 

Access to services and facilities 
 

4.5. Passenger transport can potentially help Leicestershire’s residents access a 

range of important services and facilities. Where we are considering 

supporting services to supplement those provided commercially, as noted in  

our PTP we will give highest priority to access to: 

• Employment and training 

• Food shopping  

• Primary healthcare1 
 

4.6. Our Strategy is therefore focussed on supporting passenger transport 

services that are most likely to enable people to access a range of such 

services and facilities. Priority is given to trying to ensure that as many 

Leicestershire residents as possible are able to reach settlements which offer 

those services and facilities at least once per week. It must be accepted, 

however, that in some cases it may not be possible to offer a meaningful level 

of service at acceptable cost. 

4.7. Our strategy also recognises that enabling access to larger settlements is 

likely to enhance residents’ ability to benefit from a wider range of 

opportunities, particularly employment and training. Where affordable, we will 

seek to support improved access to such opportunities. 

Core times 
 

4.8. Our Strategy focuses on supporting passenger transport trips on certain days 

of the week and at certain times. In general, these are the times when access 

to employment and training, food shopping and primary healthcare is likely to 

be accommodated and demand     is likely to be highest, thus giving the 

greatest benefit to the greatest number of residents within the available 

resources. We will, generally, only consider supporting service runs that 

depart from or arrive at their first Leicestershire location between the following 

times: 

• Monday to Friday 07.00 to 19.00 

• Saturday 08.00 to 18.00 

4.9. We will particularly consider the need to support services that operate in the 

morning and afternoon peak periods that can support employment and 

training and contribute to congestion reduction. 

                                                
1 Primary healthcare provides the first point of contact in the NHS and includes general practices (GPs), community pharmacies, dental, 
and optometry (eye health) services (source: https://www.england.nhs.uk/participation/get-involved/how/primarycare/ ) 

100

Page 52

https://www.england.nhs.uk/participation/get-involved/how/primarycare/


6  

 

5. Elements of our Strategy 
 

5.1. The following sections of this document each deal with one of the following 

areas: 

• Commercial passenger transport services 

• Community transport services 

• Subsidised passenger transport services 

• Intervention in the planning system 

• Passenger information 

• Supporting infrastructure 

• Fares and ticketing 

• Concessionary travel 

• Dealing with service disruptions 

5.2. Transport specifically to serve educational establishments (schools, colleges) 

is not explicitly dealt with in this Strategy as it will be covered in other County 

Council policy and strategy documents2. Nevertheless, we fully recognise that 

integration of general purpose passenger transport provision with education 

transport provision, where possible, can sometimes deliver the best overall 

solution. In looking at provision of subsidised passenger transport services, 

we will therefore always consider how educational transport needs and other 

transport needs can be served together. 

5.3. Park and Ride bus services are also not dealt with in this Strategy, since they  

form part of transport schemes that the County Council (working jointly with 

Leicester City Council) has previously implemented to tackle congestion in 

and around the Leicester urban area. 

                                                
2 https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/education-and-children/school-transport/school-transport-policy-documents 

101

Page 53

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.leicestershire.gov.uk%2Feducation-and-children%2Fschool-transport%2Fschool-transport-policy-documents&data=05%7C02%7CClare.Waldron%40itpworld.net%7Cb07518fb08624a193f3d08dbf70e3e77%7C15f996bfaad1451c8d179b95d025eafc%7C0%7C0%7C638375412806049987%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=mZf9OsoRzAgBtX06UJGYQh%2BEODAD0SwKuyhuwvb894s%3D&reserved=0


7  

 

6. Commercial passenger transport services 
 

6.1. The primary providers of passenger transport services in Leicestershire are 

commercial organisations that operate local bus services on a profit-making 

basis, as envisaged when the local bus service market outside London was 

de-regulated in 1985. It is generally in the interests of the people of 

Leicestershire for commercial bus networks to be attractive, efficient and 

stable. Such networks can meet the needs of many people in providing a 

means of collective transport that reduces congestion on our roads, limits 

vehicular emissions and provides access to work and life opportunities. 

6.2. While commercial bus services are outside the Council’s direct control, we 

will work in cooperation with all commercial operators, as far as possible, to 

help them deliver high quality and low emission services that meet 

Leicestershire’s needs. This may include working with operators through the 

Leicestershire Enhanced Partnership to grow the commercial market. 

6.3. The Bus Services Act 2017 introduced possibilities for new partnership 

models (e.g. Advanced Quality Partnerships and Enhanced Partnerships) or 

for bus franchising. Subsequently, the Government’s National Bus Strategy 

(2020) required all Local Transport Authorities (LTAs), whether alone or in 

conjunction with neighbouring LTAs, to enter into an ‘Enhanced Partnership’ 

with its local bus operators to deliver Enhanced Partnership ‘Schemes’ as 

identified within its Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP).  The Leicestershire 

BSIP was made on 31st October 2021 and the Enhanced Partnership was 

established in March 2022.  

6.4. Our role will focus on supporting operators in delivering high quality services  

that meet people’s needs. For example, this may include: 

• Working with operators to ensure that bus stops, shelters and service 

information are provided and maintained. 

• Helping ensure that buses do not suffer unduly from traffic congestion, 

and planned road works, so that they can operate punctually and reliably. 

• Highlighting opportunities for bus operators arising from development plans 

and the potential to grow new markets. 

• Applying for Government funds open to local authorities for investment in 

low emission vehicles or other aspects of bus service provision. 

102

Page 54



8  

7. Support for community transport services 
 

Current schemes 
 

7.1. Community transport (CT) services currently provide a valuable service for 

people from vulnerable groups in particular (for example, disabled or older 

people with impaired mobility, and people who live in isolation), helping them 

to access key services and activities that they can’t reach using the 

commercial bus network. These services are provided by community 

organisations, with much of the work involved being undertaken on a 

voluntary basis. 

7.2. Users of CT services pay towards the cost of their travel, but at present this 

does not cover all costs of the service. Community organisations rely on 

external fundraising to cover the rest of their costs. Leicestershire County 

Council has historically provided significant grant funding to CT scheme 

operators and, following an in-depth review and consultation process in 2013- 

14, this moved towards a system where a defined overall grant fund is 

allocated to scheme operators according to a combination of the number of 

passengers carried and the size of the scheme catchment population for each 

operator. The NHS (via Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland’s Integrated 

Care Board) also makes a grant contribution to CT services, in recognition of 

their role in connecting people with healthcare. 

7.3. In line with practice in other local authorities, we will encourage existing CT 

scheme operators to become less reliant on Council grants to deliver their 

services, with an ultimate aim of them becoming financially self-sustaining. 

We will also work with the existing operators to encourage them to broaden 

their appeal to population groups other than older and disabled people. 

Potential future community initiatives 
 

7.4. In communities that currently only have a limited community transport service, 

we will work with groups of local people who may wish to offer some form of 

additional service to encourage and help them. These may be based on small 

vehicles, including cars, taxis or minibuses. In particular, we will offer advice 

on organisational, operational and funding issues. Engagement will be 

undertaken by officers where there is clear interest from a community in 

delivering a new community service. 

Financial support 
 

7.5. Leicestershire County Council will continue to pay a grant to community 

transport organisations based on the number of trips carried and size of 

catchment population. A defined grant fund will be maintained to this end.   

Part of the grant fund may also be used to help communities establish and   

start to operate any new transport services for local communities.

103

Page 55



9  

8. Financially supported passenger transport services 
 

8.1. Leicestershire County Council is not a major passenger transport provider. 

However, where commercial bus services or community transport services do 

not meet a community’s high priority transport needs (as defined above), or 

where an existing commercial bus service or community transport service is 

withdrawn or significantly curtailed, the Council may consider intervening by 

offering organisational, operational or financial support for retention of existing 

or provision of alternative transport . 

 

Service hierarchy 

8.2. In common with many parts of the country, demand for bus travel has 

struggled to recover to pre-Covid levels in Leicestershire as travel habits have 

changed following the pandemic.  We are aware that ‘big bus’ solutions are 

not always the most efficient way to meet the needs of users and there are 

negative effects on the environment from running timetabled buses carrying 

few passengers, even if those services are operated using electric buses.   

8.3. This Strategy focusses on matching the type of provision to the level of 

demand.  Big bus services are most likely to be supported which serve key 

routes and provide access to larger settlements. In more rural areas where 

demand is lower, we will consider more tailored ways of providing services; 

these might include bus services which either operate on a fully flexible basis, 

such as the county’s ‘FoxConnect’ Digital Demand Responsive Transport 

service, or deviate off route in response to bookings received. Flexible 

services will feed into scheduled bus services as appropriate, to avoid 

competing for passengers and to ensure that the on-demand services are 

available for more local trips.  In deeper rural areas, taxi-based on-demand 

services will provide trips at scheduled times but only operate when bookings 

are received.   

Financial support for bus services 

8.4. Financial support will, generally, only be considered where there is 

demonstrable and significant unmet demand3 for passenger transport to 

provide access to high priority  opportunities, namely employment or  training, 

food shopping and primary healthcare. In line with the priorities set out earlier 

in this Strategy document, financial support will, generally, only be considered 

for services that arrive at or depart  from their first or last stop in Leicestershire 

between the hours of 07.00 and 19.00 Monday to Friday or between the 

hours of 08.00 and 18.00 on Saturday, and that link the area concerned with 

a nearby settlement where there is access to employment    or training, food 

shopping and primary healthcare, or offer wider access to a larger settlement 

                                                
3 The level of passenger demand meeting this test will depend on the nature and cost of the particular  potential service or part-service 
under consideration. 

104

Page 56



10  

centre where more high priority opportunities are available4 5. Any financial 

support will only be provided if a supported replacement service or part-

service scores well under Leicestershire’s objective assessment scoring 

scheme as set out below.  

8.5. Supported services   or part-services will normally be subject to competitive 

tender unless consideration of their nature indicates that partial support in the 

form of a ‘de minimis’6 arrangement  will provide the most effective and 

economic application of funds. The Council is however bound by bus service 

tendering legislation which does not allow more than 25% of its forecast 

expenditure on passenger transport service support to be used on de minimis 

services. For this reason, supported services and de minimis arrangements 

will be considered separately within the scoring mechanism. 

8.6. All candidate bus services will be put through an objective scoring 

mechanism  to capture some of the key aspects of the benefits and costs of 

supporting that  service. This will use three key indicators: 

1. Net subsidy cost per passenger-km. This is the main indicator of value 

for   money and compares the cost of supporting the service with the actual 

or forecast demand7.  

2. Number of Leicestershire residents within the bus service’s catchment 

area8 that don’t have access to another service and aren’t within 

reasonable walking distance (800m) of a settlement centre. This indicator 

relates to the number of people for whom a particular service has a high 

value. Where the catchment area includes areas of employment 

deprivation9, people within the employment-deprived  areas will count 

double for this measure. 

3. Access to opportunities. Bus services that provide access to a greater 

range of high priority facilities and services, particularly employment and 

training, which tend to be found in larger settlement centres, are 

considered more ‘valuable’ than those  that focus primarily on access to 

lower priority facilities and services. 

  

                                                
4 Leicestershire County Council and Leicester City Council will also work together to procure contracted bus services linking the County 
Council’s Park & Ride sites with Leicester city centre. These services are intended to be self-funding. Park & Ride services form part of 
transport schemes that Leicestershire County and Leicester City Councils have previously implemented to tackle congestion in the 
Leicester urban area. Park and Ride services are therefore not covered in any detail in this passenger transport strategy document. 
5 Leicestershire County Council will also seek to work with businesses at other existing significant places of employment outside settlement 
centres, for example Magna Park, to explore the possibility of achieving third party delivered passenger transport solutions to provide 
access to employment and training opportunities. We will also seek to work through the planning system to seek to secure delivery of such 
solutions for new major employment sites 
6 ‘De minimis’ refers to award of small amounts of bus subsidy without tender, as allowed by bus service tendering rules set out in 
Government regulations. This is especially valuable where a variation or addition to an otherwise commercial service is the most effective 
way of meeting a particular need 
7 Consideration will be given to the carriage of eligible school pupils on supported services and the cost of alternative provision for those 
pupils on a case-by-case basis 
8 Catchment area defined as within 800m of a bus stop 
9 Defined for this purpose as Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) within the 30% most employment- deprived LSOAs in England, according 
to the latest Indices of Deprivation published by Government 

105

Page 57



11  

 

8.8. The objective scoring mechanism we will use against each of these measures  

reflects their relative importance and is sufficiently ‘fine-grained’ to enable us 

to differentiate between the merits of different service options.  

8.9. The indicators will effectively be given different weightings to reflect their 

relative importance with the balance differing between fully supported services 

and de minimis arrangements (see Table 8-1).   

8.10. Fully supported services will score 0-20 for indicator 1 (cost per passenger-

km), 0-10 for indicator 2 (access to an alternative bus / rail service) and 0-5 for 

indicator 3 (access to opportunities).  

8.11. De minimis services will be assessed in relation to indicator one only – cost 

per passenger-km – in the first instance. De minimis funding requests will be 

data-led from the outset, with any funding awards being time limited and 

subject to available budget. Service performance will be closely monitored on 

an ongoing basis to measure progress towards commercial viability.  Should a 

de minimis arrangement not return a service to commercial viability by the end 

of the funding period, it will be assessed for support in the form of a contract, 

based on all three indicators, alongside other services supported by the 

Council.   

Table 8-1: Comparison of scoring for fully supported and de minimis 

services 
 

Indicator 
Fully 
supported 
bus 
service 

De 
minimis 
bus 
service 

Cost per passenger-km 0-20 0-20 

Access to an alternative bus / rail service 0-10 - 

Access to opportunities 0-5 - 

Overall score Out of 35 Out of 20 

 

8.12. The  scoring mechanism is set out in Table 8-2.  

 

 
 
 
 

 

106

Page 58



12  

Table 8-2: Scoring mechanism for assessment of the case for supporting 

a   bus service 
 

Indicator 1 Range10 Score 

Net subsidy 
cost per 
passenger-km11 

£0.90 or more 0 

£0.85 - £0.89 1 

£0.81 - £0.84 2 

£0.77 - £0.80 3 

£0.72 - £0.76 4 

£0.68 - £0.71 5 

£0.62 - £0.67 6 

£0.58 - £0.61 7 

£0.52 - £0.57 8 

£0.48 - £0.51 9 

£0.43 - £0.47 10 

£0.38 - £0.42 11 

£0.32 - £0.37 12 

£0.28 - £0.31 13 

£0.24 - £0.27 14 

£0.20 - £0.23 15 

£0.16 - £0.19 16 

£0.12 - £0.15 17 

£0.08 - £0.11 18 

£0.04 - £0.07 19 

Less than £0.04 20 

                                                
10 Monetary values increased to reflect inflation since previous Strategy published in 2018. 
11 Values may be updated by the County Council from time to time to take account of  inflation. 

107

Page 59



13  

 

Indicator 2 Value range12 Score 

Number of 
Leicestershire 
residents within 
the service’s 
catchment area 
who don’t have 
access to 
another service 
and aren’t within 
reasonable 
walking distance 
(800m) of a 
settlement 
centre 
 

< 750 0 

751-1500 1 

1501-2250 2 

2251-3000 3 

3001-3750 4 

3751-4500 5 

4501-5250 6 

5251-6000 7 

6001-6750 8 

6751-7500 9 

> 7500             10 

 

Indicator 3 Value range Score 

Access to 
opportunities  

(as measured by 
the relative size 
of the 
destinations 
served by the 
service, 
reflecting the 
availability of a 
range of 
facilities and 
services) 

Provides access 
to a city plus at 
least one large 
settlement 

5 

Provides access 
to at least two 
large settlements 

4 

Provides access 
to at least one 
large settlement 

3 

Provides access 
to at least two 
medium 
settlements  

2 

Provides access 
to at least one 
medium 
settlement 

1 

Provides access 
to at least one 
small settlement  

0 

                                                
12 People within employment-deprived areas will count double for this indicator 

108

Page 60



14  

8.13. Once a service has been through the scoring mechanism, the resultant overall 

score will be viewed in the context of a case-for-support rating. This is shown 

in Table 8-3. This information will be used by officers to make the decision on 

whether to financially support a particular service. Any decision on the future 

of services will consider the implications of service removal on the overall 

provision of passenger transport in the local area. For de minimis funding 

requests, only those with a strong case for support rating (i.e. have a score of 

17 or more out of 20) will be considered for financial support.   

 

Table 8-3: Case-for-support ratings 
 

 Overall service score 

Case-for-
support rating  

Supported 
services 

score out of 35 

De minimis  

score out of 20 

Strong  25 or more 17 or more 

Marginal  20-24 15 - 16 

Weak  <20 <15 

 

Lifeline DRT services 
 

8.14. Where an existing supported bus service scores poorly under the objective 

scoring mechanism and is therefore withdrawn or curtailed, Leicestershire 

County Council will consider the case for providing a localised ‘lifeline’ 

demand responsive transport (DRT) service. Such lifeline services recognise 

the importance of passenger transport links in combating isolation. The best 

candidate service option will be determined by officers (in collaboration with 

community representatives, where possible) and will normally be the option 

that offers the best value within affordability constraints. 

8.15. Such services will be operated by contracted small vehicle or taxi operators 

and will only be considered where there is demonstrable evidence of people 

who were previously reliant on a bus service (that is now withdrawn or 

curtailed) who cannot reasonably use other means of travel (e.g. community 

transport, private car, car-sharing, commercial taxi/minicab, walking or cycling) 

for access to employment and training, food shopping and primary healthcare 

(as defined in section 4 of this document) to a nearby settlement centre    at 

core times. 

8.16. Where these criteria are met, and such a service is affordable within budget 

constraints, the County Council will attempt through competitive tendering to 

procure an appropriate DRT service. The case for maintaining such DRT 

109

Page 61



15  

services will be reviewed at least every three years. 

Our enhanced offer 

8.17. Without funding from external sources, our ‘core’ offer will be full or partial 

support in the form of a scheduled bus within our budgetary constraints, 

replacing buses with the type of lifeline services described above where 

services are not deemed to offer value for money.  

8.18. Should external funding for passenger transport be made available to the 

Council, for example BSIP+, or Section 106 developer funding, our 

‘enhanced’ offer will involve trialling some of the more flexible means of 

service provision, such as new operating zones for the FoxConnect Digital 

Demand Responsive Transport, or new ‘Flexibus’ services.   

8.19. We will also consider awarding short-term support in response to new de 

minimis requests with a view to assisting borderline commercial services to 

return to commercial viability.  

8.20. Any ‘enhanced’ service provision supported with external funding will be 

reviewed at the end of the funding period and considered for ongoing support 

in relation to other ‘core’ service provision, subject to staying within the 

Council’s budgetary constraints.  

9. Influencing through the planning system 
 

9.1. In the planning of new development in Leicestershire, the County Council will 

work with District Councils (planning authorities) and development promoters 

(developers) to seek to ensure the delivery of planned development brought 

forward in locations that offer genuine opportunities to be accessed by a range 

of travel modes. This includes ensuring that commercially viable, long term 

accessibility by passenger transport to key services and facilities is 

appropriately and properly considered. This will be done alongside 

consideration of other sustainable travel modes (e.g. cycling and walking). 

9.2. Where appropriate, we will either: 

• encourage and look to developers to engage with passenger transport 

operators to seek to develop and implement a passenger transport 

solution that aligns with the type and nature of the development to be 

served, including new major employment developments, and which is 

likely to be commercially viable and sustainable over the long term (we 

will  seek appropriate legal agreements to ensure that the solution is 

secured); or 

• seek developer contributions to facilitate such accessibility through an 

agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. The size of contribution sought for all sustainable travel modes 

will depend on the size, nature and location of the proposed 

110

Page 62



16  

development. 

9.3. Section 106 developer contributions may be sought for revenue funding 

support for a fixed period of either an existing passenger transport service that 

might be altered to suit the development, or for a new service. However, this 

will only be sought where there is a reasonable prospect that the service 

alteration or new service can become self-funding due to patronage growth at 

the end of the defined period. Contributions may also be sought for passenger 

transport infrastructure (e.g. bus stops or shelters, passenger information 

systems). 

9.4. In wording the Section 106 agreement or seeking development conditions, the 

County Council will work with planning officers to include sufficiently flexible 

wording, such that if the situation changes before the development is built the  

contribution can still be used on other sustainable transport interventions to 

achieve the same aims, where other feasible options exist. Then, for example, 

if the specific bus service they might contribute to is withdrawn or changed, 

the funding can be re-deployed – e.g. to improve cycling or walking  links with 

a development site beyond the identified lifetime of such a supported service. 

9.5. Where funding for passenger transport is sought from a developer, we will 

work with planning officers to ensure that this is taken into account in the 

required Travel Plan for the development. This should help ensure that best 

advantage is taken of any passenger transport services by the development  

occupants. 

111

Page 63



17  

10. Passenger information 
 

10.1. Leicestershire County Council recognises that the provision of service 

information and marketing can encourage more travel by passenger transport, 

which in turn sustains services and supports network enhancements. We also  

have a statutory duty to determine what local bus information should be made  

available and to make information available if operators do not do so. 

10.2. The primary responsibility for providing passenger transport service 

information will lie with the operators. However, we will work in conjunction 

with commercial bus operators and Traveline13 to ensure that information on 

local bus services is provided for Leicestershire’s workers, residents and 

visitors. Where appropriate, this will be done through the Leicestershire 

Enhanced Partnership. We will also work with relevant community groups and 

organisations to help them publicise the community transport services that 

they operate. 

10.3. Information provision will primarily focus on: 

• What services operate 

• Where services run 

• How to book services that are not conventional local bus services (e.g. 

community transport or DRT) 

• Service times and frequency 

• Current status of services (e.g. any service disruptions) 

• Days of operation 

• Costs / fares and ticket products 

• Service provider contact details 
 

10.4. Our aim is to ensure that information is: 

• Comprehensive and covers all services 

• Accurate, up-to-date and reliable 

• Available at all key stages of planning and making a journey 

• Accessible by people with disabilities 

10.5. Information may be provided through a range of media, as set out below. We 

will liaise with commercial operators to try to ensure that our respective 

information sources are complementary rather than duplicative. 

10.6. Printed information – In general, printed service leaflets may be provided by 

service operators. Through our contracting processes for procuring 

                                                
13 Traveline is the national public transport enquiry service  

112

Page 64



18  

supported services, we will encourage operators to provide printed leaflets 

that fit with the style used for their commercial services. We will encourage 

operators to conform with current best practice. 

10.7. Websites and apps– We will encourage operators to make information 

available to passengers through their own websites and apps. We will also 

provide service information to Traveline, so that it can be accessed by 

passengers through telephone enquiries, through the Traveline website, or 

through apps that use the Traveline data feed. We will also continue to keep 

service information up-to-date in Leicestershire’s ‘Choose How You Move’ 

multi-modal journey planner. The Leicestershire County Council website will 

signpost passengers to these sources of information. 

10.8. Information at bus stops – We will work with bus operators to ensure that 

they provide accurate and up-to-date timetable information at all bus stops 

within Leicestershire. This information will be provided in large print, as far as 

reasonably practicable, and we will work with operators to ensure that 

principles set out in ATCO best practice guidance are followed as far as 

possible. 

10.9. Real time information (RTI) displays – As far as possible within budget 

constraints, we will provide real time information displays at selected bus 

stops. Selection of sites for RTI displays will be planned in cooperation with 

neighbouring authorities for cross-boundary services and with bus operators. 

10.10. We will continue to monitor usage and user satisfaction with passenger 

information provision actions, and will work with service operators to adjust 

and fine-tune them based on those actions. This will meet the Transport Act 

2000 requirement to consult on information provision. 

 

11. Supporting infrastructure 
 

11.1. Leicestershire County Council will continue to provide and maintain 

infrastructure that facilitates passenger transport use, in cooperation with 

operators where appropriate. This includes bus stop poles/flags and shelters, 

information display cases and digital information at stops, and interchange 

facilities. We will apply our ‘Bus Stop Infrastructure Standards’, developed in 

cooperation with operators within the Enhanced Partnership, which 

introduced a hierarchy of stop types to take into account factors such as the 

nature of the stop location, the frequency of services, level of passenger 

usage and space available for installing infrastructure. Selection of locations 

for any new bus stops and shelters will follow the Standards document, 

developed in consideration of the Department for Transport’s Inclusive Mobility 

guidance14.  

                                                
14 Inclusive mobility: making transport accessible for passengers and pedestrians - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)  

113

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inclusive-mobility-making-transport-accessible-for-passengers-and-pedestrians


19  

11.2. Responsibility for maintenance of bus stop poles/flags, display cases and 

shelters may, by agreement with all operators concerned, be delegated to 

bus  operators. Where such agreement cannot be reached, Leicestershire 

County Council will retain the responsibility for maintaining the infrastructure. 

11.3. Interchange facilities will continue to be provided at key locations where 

people change between different bus services or between the bus and other 

forms of transport. As a minimum, these will be provided with a timetable 

information case and a cover to protect passengers from inclement weather. 

11.4. The County Council will also continue to work closely with service operators 

to identify any problems on the road network for passenger transport vehicles 

that could be improved by targeted infrastructure improvements. These might 

range from measures to reduce junction delays at peak times to filling in 

potholes. Any such improvements will be considered based on the potential 

benefit and cost of making the improvement and of affordability. 

 

12. Fares and ticketing 
 

12.1. Bus fares for commercial services and Community Transport fares are 

primarily a matter for the operators of those services. As part of our 

cooperative working with local bus  operators in Leicestershire through the 

Enhanced Partnership we will encourage them to keep fares as low as 

possible within commercial viability. We will also encourage operators to 

offer discounted fare products such as day, weekly or monthly tickets and to 

participate in multi-operator ticketing to help grow the overall bus market and 

reduce the cost of use where more than one operator’s services are used in making 

journeys by connection. 

12.2. Bus fares for supported services will be set in line with those on commercial 

services in the area. On supported local bus service contracts children’s 

fares  will be available at all times. Children are defined by age as being 5 to 

15 inclusive. Children under the age of 5 will be carried free of charge 

provided they do not occupy a seat to the exclusion of a fare-paying 

passenger.  We will monitor the fares on supported services operating in 

Leicestershire to ensure fairness and consistency. 

12.3. Multi operator tickets are tickets that can be used on buses provided by 

more than one service operator. They can make bus use more convenient 

and affordable and can help attract new passengers to bus services.  We 

strongly support multi operator ticketing as a way of growing the bus travel 

market and will work cooperatively with operators to pursue any opportunities 

to provide additional schemes in the future. 

12.4. Smart ticketing is where a ticket is stored electronically on a microchip 

rather than printed on a paper ticket. This microchip can be embedded in a 

smartcard or on a smart phone. Smart ticketing is also now achievable using 

114

Page 66



20  

contactless EMV bank cards (rather than dedicated transport smart cards), 

as used in London. 

12.5. Smart ticketing opens up alternative ways of buying, collecting and using 

tickets that are often easier for passengers and also reduce boarding times at 

bus stops. Leicestershire County Council strongly supports smart ticketing 

(particularly where used in conjunction with multi-operator ticketing) and is 

willing to work with operators through Enhanced Partnership arrangements or 

other means to realise greater use of smart tickets and ticket capping in 

Leicestershire. 

Our enhanced offer 

12.6. Subject to availability of external funding, we will consider and trial schemes 

to encourage public transport usage.  Such schemes might include fares and 

ticketing trials to reduce the cost of travel, and enhanced marketing and 

promotion of services to raise awareness of public transport among the 

general public for whom lack of information is often a barrier to use.  

 

13. Concessionary travel 
 

13.1. We will continue to fund the statutory English National Concessionary Travel 

Scheme for older and disabled people boarding local buses in Leicestershire. 

This gives free bus travel within the nationally-defined days and times for 

eligible older and disabled people. 

13.2. We will also continue with a discretionary enhancement to the scheme in 

Leicestershire, provided it remains affordable. This allows concessionary 

pass holders to travel on Park & Ride buses in the county (which are not 

covered by the mandatory national concession) for a reduced fare on 

production of their pass. 

 

14. Dealing with service disruptions 
 

14.1. The County Council understands that road works on the highway network can 

cause service disruption and delays to passenger transport services. The 

majority of these works are undertaken by utility companies, the County 

Council or developers. 

14.2. Through the introduction of a new Road Works Permit Scheme the County 

Council will seek to improve the co-ordination, control and communication of 

road works on the highway. Experience has shown that a permit scheme can 

reduce disruption for passenger transport operators caused by road works 

and minimise the impact these works have on service reliability and 

punctuality. As part of the new Road Works Permit Scheme promoters of 

road works in Leicestershire will be advised if their proposed works are on a 

115

Page 67



21  

passenger transport route. 

14.3. Where planned road works may affect passenger transport services, we will 

expect that road works promoters: 

• Engage early with and provide timely, clear, accurate and appropriate 

information to stakeholders, including public transport operators; and 

• Provide evidence that they have considered and understood the 

breadth/ impact of their proposals on all road users, including passenger 

transport users, and have adequately mitigated any adverse avoidable 

impacts before they are implemented. 

14.4. In most cases, we would expect operators to modify their service routing 

temporarily (including suspension of stops) to accommodate the works and  

publicise the temporary changes accordingly. In a minority of cases the 

passenger transport services may need to be curtailed temporarily. 

14.5. In all cases of passenger transport service disruption, the works promoter will 

be expected to consider the needs of users of those services and, if 

necessary,  put forward a proposed alternative solution (in cooperation with 

service operators and the County Council) for meeting those needs. This will 

need to take account of: 

• The nature and extent of the works 

• Their duration 

• The availability of alternatives 

14.6. The County Council will seek to obtain any relevant costs associated with such 

solutions from the works promoter. 

14.7. Where the duration of disruption is one weekday (excluding public holidays) 

or less or the extent of disruption is minor, there may be no need for 

alternative service provision, provided the service disruption is appropriately 

publicised. 

14.8. Passenger service operators will be encouraged to access the road works 

website (www.roadworks.org) regularly to obtain up to date information 

regarding all known roadworks in the county, to enable collaborative and 

effective service planning. 

116

Page 68



 
 

Appendix C 

Equality Impact Assessment (DRAFT) 
 
 

Name of policy Passenger Transport Policy & Strategy (PTPS) 

Department  E&T 

Who has been involved in 
completing the EIA? 

Lee Quincey 

Relevant contact information Lee.Quincey@leics.gov.uk Tel: 0116 305 6308 

Who is completing the EIA? Lee Quincey 

 

What is the 
proposal? 

To implement a revised PTPS which enables the Council to take a more flexible 
approach to help support communities and their high priority journey needs. This 
is through efficient use of its budgets and utilising the commercial bus market 
through the Enhanced Partnership to maximise a sustainable service offer to 
passengers and help stabilise the commercial market.  
 
The revised PTPS will enable a blended, layered approach to passenger transport 
provision, with a mix of traditional scheduled services and other solutions, such as 
demand responsive transport (DRT) and digital demand-responsive transport 
(DDRT.) The PTPS would continue to operate in the context of any future 
remodelling of the passenger transport network in Leicestershire. Remodelling 
proposals would be subject to a further equality impact assessment. 
 
The revised PTPS would mitigate risks to the Council’s own budgets caused by 
fluctuations and uncertainty in levels of future Government funding for passenger 
transport services, by setting out a revised mechanism for considering support for 
services.  
 
Leicestershire County Council does not have a statutory duty to provide or support 
passenger transport. The Council’s statutory duty requires transport provision so 
far as the Council considers it appropriate to meet any public transport 
requirements which would not otherwise be met and consider what would be 
appropriate services to meet those needs.  
 
Support would be determined based on net subsidy cost per passenger per 
kilometre, accessibility (number of residents who would have no alternative access 
to facilities,) and access to opportunities/facilities based on what combination of 
city, town or local centre the service accesses. More detail about the assessment 
process and criteria can be found in Paragraphs 52-54 of the Cabinet report to 
which this EIA is appended.  
 
The revisions would allow temporary support to be provided for necessary services 
that become unviable for operators. This would be in the form of “de minimis” 
arrangements for a period of time, in conjunction with a plan to bring the service 
back to commerciality. This would reduce the risk of vital services being 
withdrawn. 
 
Context 

117

Page 69

mailto:Lee.Quincey@leics.gov.uk


 
 

A review of supported services started in early 2023 with the view to address a 
£1m shortfall in the passenger transport budget and to deliver a further £200,000 
Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) saving per year.  
 
This work was halted and a review of the PTPS was commissioned following the 
award of additional revenue funding (known as BSIP+) from the Department for 
Transport (DfT) for the financial years 2023/24 and 2024/25. There was a further 
award of funding from savings from the second leg of HS2, for 2024/25. 
 
The DfT expects this funding to be targeted on actions that the Authority and its 
Enhanced Partnership with operators believe will deliver the best overall outcomes 
in growing long term patronage, revenues and thus maintaining service levels, 
whilst maintaining essential social and economic connectivity for local 
communities.  In addition, the DfT expects the funding to be used to maintain 
existing service levels or on measures that are consistent with Departmental 
guidance on Bus Service Improvement Plans (BSIPs.) 
 

What change and 
impact is 
intended by the 
proposal? 

There may be some changes to routes and type of transport to best meet priority 
journey needs. These are largely expected to be positive changes for passengers, 
providing, where possible, better access to more commercial centres, and more 
DRT in rural areas.  
 
Services would be ranked by priority to allow for changes to levels of support 
based on fluctuating funding.  “Lifeline” services to access essential facilities would 
be retained. 
 
 

What is the 
rationale for the 
proposal? 

The refreshed PTPS is required to ensure longer-term flexibility for a sustainable, 
value-for-money and fit-for-purpose passenger transport network across 
Leicestershire, that meets people’s high priority journey needs, the Government’s 
ambitions set out in the National Bus Strategy and Leicestershire’s BSIP. 
 
Government funding is likely to fluctuate in coming years and the Council needs to 
be able to adapt to this to ensure that services remain affordable and best value 
for money within the context of its wider budget pressures. 

 
What evidence about potential equality impacts is already available? This could come from research, 
service analysis, questionnaires, and engagement with protected characteristics groups. 
 

What equalities 
information or 
data has been 
gathered so far? 

Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment for the 2018 Cabinet report, which 
was informed by an extensive consultation to inform the adopted PTPS. 
 
Intelligence gained in response to the continued management of impacts of 
changes to the commercial bus network. 
 

What does it 
show? 

As the proposal should sustain and potentially make services more fit-for-purpose 
in the short term, there should be no additional negative impacts, but if services 
are reduced in line with reduced budgets in the future it may more negatively 
impact people with the following protected characteristics: 

• Age 

• Disability 

118

Page 70



 
 

• Pregnancy & maternity 

• Sex (greater impact on females) 

• Rural communities 

• Areas of deprivation 
 

What 
engagement has 
been undertaken 
so far? 

Full public consultation in 2018 prior to approval of the current PTPS. 
 
Engagement with the Highways and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

What does it 
show? 

• A snapshot of needs and aspirations of individuals and communities, 
including purpose of journey, alternatives available to individuals, the 
impact on individuals if there were no bus service, and what is important 
to individuals and community groups. 

• Overall, there was broad agreement with the majority of aspects of the 
PTPS – such as supporting operators to provide services commercially; 
core operating times; proposed priority groups and journey purposes; 
supporting Community Transport schemes; and encouraging and 
supporting communities to develop local transport solutions. 

• The only aspect listed which was less supported was providing DRT as an 
alternative solution where subsidised bus routes do not provide value for 
money. 
 

 
Please specify if any individuals or community groups who identify with any of the protected 
characteristics may potentially be affected by the policy and describe any benefits and concerns 
including any barriers. 

Use this section to demonstrate how risks would be mitigated for each affected group. 

AGE  

What are the 
benefits of the 
proposal for 
those from the 
following 
groups? 

Many users of supported services are concessionary pass holders, i.e. elderly 
people, or people with disabilities, so by the nature of supporting services that are 
not provided by commercial operators, this section of the community is supported.  
 
Some areas may see infrequent, inflexible bus services replaced with services 
designed to be flexible and meet the needs of communities. For example, 
DRT/DDRT services could be designed which coincide with market days in specific 
local centres to enable service users to travel at the times which are the most 
suited to them. 
 
Grant-funded Community Transport is also available for elderly people who are 
disabled, infirm and isolated (subject to eligibility criteria being satisfied). See 
“What action is planned?” below for more detail about the Council’s strategic 
priority outcomes and commitment to priority groups. 

Are there any 
specific risks or 
concerns? 

SHORT-TERM there are no significant risks. Concerns about ability to book DDRT 
online are mitigated by the requirement for DDRT services to be bookable by 
phone as well as through an app.  
 
LONGER-TERM 
Although future Government funding is anticipated post-2024/25, it is not 
guaranteed. In the event that funding reduces to the point where a reduction in 

119

Page 71



 
 

service is needed, it may be more difficult for older people to access services and 
get around the county. This may lead to increased potential for isolation.  
 
Younger people are not identified as a priority group, as the priority groups were 
based on significant usage of current services and the importance of provision for 
those who would otherwise be unable to access essential services, such as food 
shopping or primary health care.  

DISABILITY  

What are the 
benefits of the 
proposal for 
those from the 
following 
groups? 

The majority of users of supported services are concessionary pass holders, i.e. 
elderly people, or people with disabilities, so by the nature of supporting services 
that are not provided by commercial operators, this section of the community is 
supported. 
 
Some users with disabilities may have more flexible and responsive transport to 
access, for example, through the provision of DRT/DDRT. 
 
Grant-funded Community Transport is available for people who are disabled, 
infirm and isolated (subject to eligibility criteria being satisfied). See “What action 
is planned?” below for more detail about the Council’s strategic priority outcomes 
and commitment to priority groups. 

Are there any 
specific risks or 
concerns? 

SHORT-TERM Concerns about ability to book DDRT online are mitigated by the 
requirement for DDRT services to be bookable by phone as well as through an app. 
This concern was also noted by the Environment & Transport Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee at its meeting on 9 November 2023. Any roll-out of DDRT service apps 
should ensure they are optimised for accessibility.   
 
Taxi DRTs are bookable by phone, however, there is not a specific requirement for 
them to be fully accessible. Any provision where this is an issue would be looked 
into, or information given on Community Transport services that may better meet 
disabled passengers’ needs.  
 
 
LONGER-TERM 
Although future Government funding is anticipated post-2024/25, it is not 
guaranteed. In the event that funding reduces to the point where a reduction in 
service is needed, it may be more difficult for people with disabilities to access 
services and get around the county. This may lead to increased potential for 
isolation. 
 
Taxi DRTs are bookable by phone, however, there is not a specific requirement for 
the vehicles to be fully accessible. Any provision where this is an issue would be 
looked into, or information given on Community Transport services that may 
better meet disabled passengers’ needs.  
 

RACE  

What are the 
benefits of the 
proposal for 
those from the 
following 
groups? 

It is not anticipated that there will be any specific positive or negative impacts 
arising from race. 

120

Page 72



 
 

Are there any 
specific risks or 
concerns? 

It is not anticipated that there will be any specific positive or negative impacts 
arising from race. 

SEX  

What are the 
benefits of the 
proposal for 
those from the 
following 
groups? 

The majority of service users identify as female (65%). If services are replaced with 
more flexible alternatives, i.e. DRT, then this may be of benefit as opposed to a 
traditional bus service.  

Are there any 
specific risks or 
concerns? 

There are no anticipated risks or concerns in the short-term.  
 
Longer-term, if funding reduces to the point where a reduction in service is 
needed, and given that the majority of bus users are female, numerically there 
would be a greater impact on this group.  
 

GENDER 
REASSIGNMENT 

 

What are the 
benefits of the 
proposal for 
those from the 
following 
groups? 

It is not anticipated that there will be any specific positive or negative impacts 
arising from gender reassignment. 

Are there any 
specific risks or 
concerns? 

It is not anticipated that there will be any specific positive or negative impacts 
arising from gender reassignment. 

MARRIAGE & 
CIVIL 
PARTNERSHIP 

 

What are the 
benefits of the 
proposal for 
those from the 
following 
groups? 

It is not anticipated that there will be any specific positive or negative impacts 
arising from marriage and civil partnership. 

Are there any 
specific risks or 
concerns? 

It is not anticipated that there will be any specific positive or negative impacts 
arising from marriage and civil partnership. 

SEXUAL 
ORIENTATION 

 

What are the 
benefits of the 
proposal for 
those from the 
following 
groups? 

It is not anticipated that there will be any specific positive or negative impacts 
arising from sexual orientation. 

Are there any 
specific risks or 
concerns? 

It is not anticipated that there will be any specific positive or negative impacts 
arising from sexual orientation. 

121

Page 73



 
 

PREGNANCY & 
MATERNITY 

 

What are the 
benefits of the 
proposal for 
those from the 
following 
groups? 

Some users in this group may have access to more flexible and responsive 
transport, for example, through the provision of DRT/DDRT. 

Are there any 
specific risks or 
concerns? 

There are no anticipated risks or concerns in the short-term. 
 
Longer-term, although future Government funding is anticipated beyond 2024/25, 
it is not guaranteed. In the event that funding reduces to the point where a 
reduction in service is needed, this could negatively impact those going through 
pregnancy and maternity. This could be particularly an issue if there is a reduction 
in access to primary healthcare services. However, priority has been given to 
services which allow access to primary healthcare to reduce the risk of negative 
impacts to those who require these services. 

RELIGION OR 
BELIEF 

 

What are the 
benefits of the 
proposal for 
those from the 
following 
groups? 

It is not anticipated that there will be any specific positive or negative impacts 
arising from religion or belief. 

Are there any 
specific risks or 
concerns? 

It is not anticipated that there will be any specific positive or negative impacts 
arising from religion or belief. 

OTHER GROUPS e.g. rural isolation, deprivation, health inequality, carers, asylum seeker and refugee 
communities, looked after children, deprived, armed forces, or disadvantaged communities. 

What other 
groups/situations 
may be 
impacted? 

• Rural isolation 

• Deprivation or disadvantaged communities 

• Health inequality 

• Carers 

What are the 
benefits of the 
proposal for 
those from these 
groups? 

Some users from these groups may have access to more flexible and responsive 
transport, for example, through the provision of DRT/DDRT. This applies 
particularly to rural areas.  

Are there any 
specific risks or 
concerns? 

In the short-term there are no anticipated risks. 
 
Longer-term, although future Government funding is anticipated beyond 2024/25, 
it is not guaranteed. In the event that funding reduces to the point where a 
reduction in service is needed, it may have a negative impact on rural communities 
as they may have reduced access to services and find it more difficult to get 
around the county. There may also be a disproportionate impact on areas of 
deprivation, particularly in deprived rural areas, as those without access to other 
modes of transport may have their opportunities for travel reduced.  
 
There is a risk that potential service reduction could limit some individuals from 
accessing community services or getting out into their community. 

122

Page 74



 
 

 
 
ACTION PLAN 

What concerns 
were identified? 

In the short-term (next two years) the one concern identified was around the 
accessibility of the booking system for DDRT.  
 
Longer-term, if funding levels reduce, some services may no longer be supported 
and would therefore cease to operate or be reduced. As a result, individuals who 
use these services could be negatively impacted as they will no longer receive 
the services they currently use. As noted above, there is the potential for this to 
disproportionately impact older people, people with disabilities, and people who 
live in isolated or deprived areas. 

What action is 
planned? 

The PTPS describes specifically the approach to priority groups:  
 
“As noted in our PTP document, to deliver the Council’s Strategic Plan priority 
outcomes there is emphasis on supporting a high level of health and wellbeing 
(including combating isolation), and on helping deliver the right conditions for a 
thriving local economy. We also have a statutory obligation to consider the 
needs of ‘elderly and disabled’ people in determining what to support and how 
to provide passenger information.” 
 
“Meeting some key needs of older, disabled or isolated people is therefore given 
higher priority than meeting needs of other sectors of the population. We also 
give higher priority to meeting the needs of people living in employment-
deprived areas in order to help them access the job market. This prioritisation is 
in line with Leicestershire’s Third Local Transport Plan (LTP3), which emphasises 
‘continuing to improve the connectivity and accessibility of our existing transport 
system for vulnerable individuals, groups and communities’.” 
 
Where commercial or supported services are not provided, there are Community 
Transport schemes across Leicestershire which are grant funded by the Council 
for use by priority groups where eligible.  
 
The revised PTPS should allow for more suitable or creative solutions within 
budget constraints. The changes to criteria for support are likely to result in 
more positive outcomes, such as more support for services that reach more 
opportunities in local centres, towns or city, rather than the current focus on 
meeting essential travel needs to the nearest local centre. If funding reduces, 
then the PTPS gives an evidence-based priority assessment to ensure that 
support is given to highest priority services.  
 
The Director of Environment and Transport, following consultation with the 
Cabinet Lead Member, has existing delegated powers to implement the outcome 
of service reviews as previously agreed by the Cabinet on 16 October 2018. 
 
Before any changes are implemented to a service, local communities will be 
engaged with to ensure that the changes are clearly understood, and, where 
appropriate, work with the community to help shape suitable DRT/DDRT 
provision. 
 

123

Page 75



 
 

There is also potential for targeted personal travel planning to take place in 
specific areas to support people in using services and making passenger 
transport the travel option of choice. This would be particularly valuable in areas 
to be served by non-traditional scheduled routes.  
 
A feasibility study is underway on rolling out further DDRT pilots. As with the 
existing pilot, passengers would be able to book by phone as well as by app. 
DDRT vehicles are expected to be accessible. Any further roll-out of DDRT should 
ensure that apps/phone lines are optimised for accessibility.  
 

Who is 
responsible for 
the action? 

The Director of Environment and Transport, following consultation with the 
Cabinet Lead Member, is responsible for making decisions based on the 
application of the PTPS. 

Timescale The PTPS would be adopted for all future decisions relating to subsidised 
passenger transport services. Services would be reviewed at an appropriate time 
in accordance with contract end dates. New proposed services, or proposed 
changes to/withdrawal of services by operators would be addressed when they 
arise. 

How will the 
action plan and 
recommendations 
of this 
assessment be 
built into decision 
making and 
implementation 
of the proposal? 

For service changes, engagement with relevant communities would take place at 
an appropriate time. If beneficial, targeted personal travel plans could be carried 
out at a similar time. 

How would you 
monitor the 
impact of your 
proposal and 
keep the EIA 
refreshed? 

The Council’s PTPS aims to ensure that Leicestershire residents have access to 
important services such as food shopping and healthcare. Feedback and 
requests for passenger transport services received via established County 
Council communication channels will continue to be considered in relation to 
current service provision in line with the PTPS as part of business-as-usual 
operation. 
 
The Council’s BSIP recognises the rural transport challenges for Leicestershire (as 
outlined in the impact analysis of this EIA) and the Council will continue to 
explore innovative solutions to tackle these challenges and set aspirations within 
the BSIP as part of its annual review process. The recent allocation of BSIP+ 
funding is allowing the Council to carry out feasibilities into these. As a condition 
of the funding, it has to provide assurance to the DfT through provision of data 
on performance.  
 
The Council’s Enhanced Partnership will be the delivery vehicle for its BSIP and 
views/feedback from users and operators will be fully considered to inform any 
future BSIP aspirations.  
 
A review of the PTPS has been undertaken to ensure it is aligned with the BSIP. 
As the BSIP is refreshed on an annual basis, a PTPS compatibility check will be 
made to ensure the PTPS remains fit for purpose and in line with the Council’s 
passenger transport aspirations. 
 

124

Page 76



 
 

The appropriateness of the EIA will be reviewed accordingly as part of the above.  
 

 
 
 
 

125

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



Public Transport Scrutiny Panel 

Briefing Note - Section 106 and Public Transport 

Date:  29/01/2024 

Author:  Mark Pickrell – Team Leader, Strategic Development 

 

Introduction 

Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows a local planning 
authority to enter into a legally binding agreement or planning obligation with a 
landowner as part of the granting of planning permission. The obligation is termed a 
section 106 agreement. 

These agreements are a way of delivering or addressing matters that are necessary 
to make a development acceptable in planning terms. They can be used to support 
the provision of services and infrastructure, such as highways, recreational facilities, 
education, health and affordable housing. 

It is important to note that while section 106 agreements can be secured to make a 
development acceptable, there are limitations on their use, and they must be used to 
address issues arising directly from the development and not to remedy an existing 
issue, for example.  

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) legislation relates and requires that any section 
106 contributions are subject to three fundamental tests being met. Any section 106 
must be: 

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
• directly related to the development; and 
• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

  

Contributions for public transport  

In relation to the provision of public transport, planning applications for major 
developments and associated section 106 agreements frequently make provision to 
contribute towards the capital investment required to accommodate the additional 
demands on public transport arising from a development. For example, contributions 
have been secured on behalf of Leicestershire County Council Highways to install 
raised curbs at bus stops to facilitate access, or new bus shelters where necessary. 
However, contributions toward the revenue needs of a service are unlikely to satisfy 
the requirements of CIL. 

There are some exceptional circumstances where Charnwood, in conjunction with the 
Local Highway Authority, have secured provision of a bus strategy with a view to 
establishing a new bus route, such as with the large scale sustainable urban 
extensions (Garendon Park, Thorpebury, Broadnook). This needs to be on the basis 

Page 79

Agenda Item 9



that the scale of growth from the development would be sufficient to support a bus 
route and, once established, that route would be self-funding. 

Process for assessing, securing and collecting section 106 contributions 

Upon receipt of a valid planning application, Officers will liaise with statutory 
consultees for comment on the proposed development and will assess any material 
considerations, including any requests for contributions or mitigation, in relation to the 
relevant policies and legislation before issuing a decision. Officers will often refer to 
the expertise of Leicestershire County Council Highways Officers in relation to the 
impacts of a development on public transport as well as local representatives. 

If a request for a particular contribution is found to be CIL compliant and the planning 
application is due to be approved then officers will secure the contribution as part of a 
section 106 agreement which will be signed by all relevant parties prior to a decision 
being issued. The section 106 will include a defined trigger point by which the relevant 
contribution is to be provided. Upon completion of a section 106 agreement, the 
provisions become legally binding upon the landowner. 

Once a planning permission has been issued, the progress of the site and the 
associated trigger points of a section 106 agreement is monitored by Charnwood’s 
Developer Contributions Monitoring Officer. Contributions are then collected from the 
developer when they are due. 

Following receipt of the relevant contributions by Charnwood, officers liaise with the 
relevant stakeholders to ensure that the contributions are used for an appropriate 
purpose and within a suitable timescale. For example, if a contribution is secured to 
provide a play area outside of a development site then, before funds are released, 
officers will liaise with the relevant parties to confirm that the details of the request 
meets the provisions of the section 106 and any purpose is directly related to the needs 
of the development for which it was secured. It is possible to pool contributions from 
multiple developments and combine them to provide a particular piece of infrastructure 
if it meets the needs for multiple developments. 

In relation to public transport, contributions are commonly secured with Leicestershire 
County Council as a signatory, in which case construction progress and associated 
trigger points for contributions are monitored by LCC officers, with contributions called 
in and spent by LCC. 

Conclusion 

Section 106 agreements can be used to secure contributions to mitigate a need arising 
from a development. The use of section 106 agreements needs to comply with the 
relevant legislation. Multiple contributions can be pooled together to provide a 
particular piece of infrastructure where it can be justified as being necessary to make 
each of the associated developments sustainable. 

Planning officers assess the evidence presented as part of a request for contributions 
against the relevant legislation and policies before they are included in a legal 
agreement that is to be signed by all relevant parties.  

Page 80



Charnwood’s Developer Contributions Monitoring Officer monitors the progress of 
developments to ensure that contributions towards Charnwood’s interests are 
collected when required and manages the allocation of funds to ensure that they are 
spent in accordance with the purposes for which they were secured.  

Leicestershire County Council undertakes monitoring and collection of those 
contributions which relate to their interests, including contributions relating to public 
highways. 

Page 81



 
 

PUBLIC TRANSPORT SCRUTINY PANEL – 7TH FEBRAURY 2024 
 

Report of the Director of Finance, Governance and Contracts 
 
PUBLIC TRANSPORT SURVEY 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
To consider a further draft of the Public Transport Survey. 
 
Action Requested 
 
That the panel notes the survey and decides any amendmnets before issuing. 
 
Reason 
 
To ensure the panel has sufficient background knowledge of the public transport 
provision across the borough, to help with future work programming.   
 
Background 
 
Prior to the first meeting of the Public Transport Scrutiny Panel, a survey was issued 
requesting information from Parish and Town Councils and Borough Councillors 
regarding public transport in their respective areas. The information collated was 
considered at the first meeting of the panel, held on 13th December 2023 and 
members felt that the responses received had not given a thorough representation of 
public transport across the borough. Therefore, it was agreed that a further survey be 
commissioned to capture more information, and to give members more time to 
complete the survey. It is suggested that the survey be sent to borough Councillors, 
Parish and Town Clerks for consideration at Parish and Town Council meetings, and 
some local residents groups to capture more responses in the Loughborough area.  
 
Appendices:   Draft Survey 

   

 
Background Papers: None 
 
Officer to Contact: Sally Watson 
 Democratic Services Officer 
 01509 634969 
 sally.watson@charnwood.gov.uk   

Page 82

Agenda Item 10

mailto:sally.watson@charnwood.gov.uk


 Commercial Bus Services                             Subsidised Bus Services 

Which services currently serve your 
parish/community? 
 

  

Service Number/operator? 
 

  

Level of service provided: 
 
Frequency (every hour, etc)? 
 
Evening service? 
 
Saturday service? 
 
Sunday service? 
 

  

How would you rate reliability of each service? 
(scale 1 – 10) 
 

  

How would you rate affordability for residents 
in your community? 
 

  

How would you rate bus routes in terms of 
accessibility for residents across the 
parish/community? 
 

  

Additional comments? 
 
 
 

  

Any services withdrawn in the past two years?  If 
yes, please indicate which service/operator, 

 

P
age 83

Sallywa
Text Box
APPENDIX



which destinations were no longer served, what  
was the impact on the community?  
 

Were any withdrawn services later fully or 
partially reinstated? If yes, please indicate 
which service/operator and level of service 
provided? 

 

How would you rate the provision of bus stops, 
bus shelters and timetable information in your 
parish/community? (scale of 1-10) 
 

 

Rail Services 

Are there any rail services serving the 
parish/area? 
If yes, please provide the following information: 
Location of station? 
 
Is there adequate parking available for cars at 
the station? 
 
Is there secure parking for cycles at or near the 
station? 
 
Frequency (every 2 hours, etc)? 
 
Evening Service? 
 
Saturday service? 
 
Sunday Service? 
 

 P
age 84



 

How would you rate reliability of the service? 
(scale 1 – 10) 
 

 

How would you rate affordability for residents 
in your community? 
 

 

How would you rate the accessibility for 
residents across the parish/community? 
 

 

Other Information 

How would you rate the viability of public 
transport provision in your parish/community 
for commuters and students to travel to and 
from work/school/college? (scale of 1-10?) 
Additional comments? 
 

 

Does a Demand Responsive Transport scheme 
operate in your parish/community? 
If so, please give details and level of usage if 
known. 

 

 

Are you aware of a of community minibus in the 
parish/community for pre-arranged essential 
journeys or recreational trips? 
 
 

 

Is there availability of volunteer drivers scheme 
in the parish/community for pre-arranged 
essential journeys, e.g. Age UK? 
 

 

P
age 85



Is there anything else related to public transport 
in your ward that you would like to highlight? 

 

 

Are there any improvements to public transport 
in your parish/community that you would like 
to see? If so, please give details. 
 

 

 

P
age 86



  Digital Transformation Scrutiny Panel Work Programme 

Responsible Body Meeting Date Item Scope Invitees/Officers Notes 

Public Transport 
Scrutiny Panel 

Meeting 1 

13 December 
2023 

Public Transport 
Survey 

To consider the results of a borough-
wide survey. 

  

Public Transport 
Scrutiny Panel 

Meeting 1  

13 December 
2023 

LCC Bus 
Improvement Plan 

To enable the panel to develop an 
understanding of the context and vision 
for bus service delivery in Leicestershire 

  

Public Transport 
Scrutiny Panel 

Meeting 1 

13 December 
2023 

Assignment of tasks 
to panel members 

To enable panel members to begin to 
gather relevant information to inform the 
panel 

  

Public Transport 
Scrutiny Panel 

Meeting 1 

13 December 
2023 

Work programming To provisionally decide on agenda 
contents for upcoming meetings 

  

Public Transport 
Scrutiny Panel 

Meeting 2 

7 February 
2024 

S106 Briefing Note To enable members to understand the 
link between the S106 process and 
public transport 

Team Leader- 
Strategic 
Development, 
Charnwood Borough 
Council 

 

Public Transport 
Scrutiny Panel 

Meeting 2 

7 February 
2024 

Leicestershire County 
Council Officers 

To discuss the ‘Improving Passenger 
Transport through Bus Service 
Improvement Plan Plus and Network 
North Funding’ report and DRT 
information 

NA Meeting to be moved 
to the day time to 
accommodate 

P
age 87

A
genda Item

 11



  Digital Transformation Scrutiny Panel Work Programme 

Public Transport 
Scrutiny Panel 

Meeting 2 

7 February 
2024 

Public Transport 
Providers 

To discuss the provision of bus services 
and to include the reliability and demand 
of bus services. 

Delegates required from Kinch Bus, 
Arriva, Centre Bus and East Midlands 
Trains. 

Christian Allen-Clay 
(KinchBus) 

Toby France (Arriva) 

Andy Allen (Arriva) 

 

Public Transport 
Scrutiny Panel 

Meeting 3 

27 March 2024 

S106 Process 

 

To enable members to understand the 
link between the S106 process and 
public transport 

Team Leader- 
Strategic 
Development, 
Charnwood Borough 
Council 

 

Public Transport 
Scrutiny Panel 

Meeting 3 

27 March 2024 

Public Transport 
Survey Update 

To include the results of the Public 
Transport Survey following the 
circulation of an updated survey to 
Borough Councillors. Discussion should 
involve identifying communities not 
served.  

  

Public Transport 
Scrutiny Panel 

Meeting 3 

27 March 2024 

Work Programming 
and assignment of 
tasks. 

To decide on agenda contents for 
upcoming meetings 

  

Public Transport 
Scrutiny Panel 

Meeting 4 

29 May 2024 

Work Programming 
and assignment of 
tasks. 

To decide on agenda contents for 
upcoming meetings 

  

P
age 88



  Digital Transformation Scrutiny Panel Work Programme 

Public Transport 
Scrutiny Panel 

Meeting 5 

10 July 2024 

Draft Panel Report 
and 
Recommendations 

To agree final version for submission to 
the Scrutiny Commission and Cabinet 

  

 

P
age 89


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Scrutiny Scoping Document
	8 Improving Passenger Transport through Bus Service Improvement Plan Plus and Network North Funding
	6 Improving Passenger Transport through Bus Service Improvement Plan Plus and Network North Funding.
	Appendix A Passenger Transport Policy
	Appendix B Passenger Transport Strategy
	Appendix C Equality Impact Assessment


	9 Section 106 Briefing Note
	10 Public Transport Survey
	Purpose of the Report
	Public Transport Survey GL

	11 Work Programme and Key Task Planning



